

LUND UNIVERSITY

Aspirations, Capital and Identity

Four studies on the determinants of life chances for young Swedes with an immigrant background

Kaya, Gökhan

2018

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Kaya, G. (2018). Aspirations, Capital and Identity: Four studies on the determinants of life chances for young Swedes with an immigrant background. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Sociology]. Lund University.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply: Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Aspirations, Capital and Identity

Four studies on the determinants of life chances for young Swedes with an immigrant background

GÖKHAN KAYA

FACULTY OF SOCIAL SCIENCES | DEPARTMENT OF SOCIOLOGY, LUND UNIVERSITY 2018



Aspirations, Capital and Identity

Four studies on the determinants of life chances for young Swedes with an immigrant background

Gökhan Kaya



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Social Sciences, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at St. Algatan Hörsal, Lund, 12 September 2018 at 14:00.

> Faculty opponent Associate Professor Susanne Urban, Uppsala University

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document na Doctoral Diss		
Department of Sociology		e 12 September 2018	
Author(s) Gökhan Kaya	Sponsoring of	nganization	
Title and subtitle Aspirations, Capital and Identity: Four immigrant background	studies on the determina	ants of life chances for young Swedes with an	
Sweden. The dissertation includes	four research papers, dies are based on datas	among young people with immigrant background in each examining a specific research question on a sets from two surveys: the Social Capital and Labour ols in Malmö.	
secondary education or if they mix in aspire less to experimentation and pro origin are determined to be successfi	other plans. The results efer direct transition. The II. On the other hand, op	g people want to continue directly to university from show that young people with an immigrant background e results have two facets: Young people with immigrant pting for less experimentation may deprive them of an h may be an important source for informal resources.	
and social sources. The results diver unions lies between that of the child children of Swedish-born parents. The	ge from previous studies en of immigrants and c results suggest that soo whether children from	nion children, and its distribution across trans-national s that argue that social integration of children of mixed hildren of two Swedish-born parents, or are similar to cial capital depends on the migration background of the mixed unions have greater or lesser access to social is.	
Study III examines involvement in diverse cultural activities, so-called omnivorousness. It is often argued that omnivores are tolerant of, and inclusive to, the stigmatised other. The idea is tested by examining if individuals involved in diverse forms of cultural activities bridge disconnected ethnic groups. The results are not in line with this hypothesis, suggesting that previous studies are far too ready to associate progressive "positive" attributes with omnivores, and do not fully capture what people actually do in their social relations.			
Study IV examines if young people who view themselves as <i>invandrare</i> ("immigrant") are additionally disadvantaged compared to other young people of immigrant origin. The results show a greater association with depression and unemployment risk among people with explicit immigrant identity. Yet, people of immigrant origin with no explicit identity have even greater disadvantage. Thus, an explicit sense of self, even a stigmatised one, protects people from falling into the most disadvantaged positions. Taken together, the four studies provide new insights on the life chances of young Swedes with an immigrant			
background, and they underscore the Key words aspirations, immigrants, id		n has to be understood as a complex process.	
		·····	
Classification system and/or index ter	ns (ir any)		
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language English	
ISSN and key title		ISBN 978-91-7753-771-7	
ISSN 1102-4712 Lund Dissertation in Recipient's notes	Sociology 117 Number of pages 165	pages Price	
	Security classification		

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

AM

Date

11e 2018-06-26

Aspirations, Capital and Identity

Four studies on the determinants of life chances for young Swedes with an immigrant background

Gökhan Kaya



Coverphoto by FabioFilzi, istockphoto.com

Copyright Gökhan Kaya

Faculty of Social Science Department of Sociology

ISBN 978-91-7753-771-7 (print) ISBN 978-91-7753-772-4 (pdf)

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2018



Media-Tryck is an environmentally certified and ISO 14001 certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental MADE IN SWEDEN

To Isilay,

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	7
List of Papers	9
Introduction	0
Aim and Contributions10	0
The Swedish Context	3
Research Papers16	6
Aspirations, Capital and Identity	2
Aspirations	2
Forms of Capital	6
Accessing Resources through Social Networks	
Involvement in Diverse Cultural Activities	
Identity	4
Research Design	8
Sampling and Survey Methodology	8
Name Generator and Position Generator Methodology4	1
Modelling44	4
Conclusion	8
References	5
Paper I. Traditional versus Experimental Pathways to University: Educational Aspirations among Young Swedes with and without an Immigrant Background69	9
Paper II. The Social Capital of Children from Mixed Unions90	0
Paper III. Cultural Omnivores: a Bridge or a Wall between Ethnically Different Worlds? Evidence from Young People in Sweden	4
Paper IV. Immigrant Identity, Social Exclusion and Subjective Well-Being: An Explorative Study of Young People in Sweden	2

Acknowledgements

This dissertation could not have been written without the advice and help of my supervisors. My biggest debt is owed to my main adviser Christofer Edling. No other person has had such a profound influence on my development as a sociologist. I will always remember his suggestions, like thoughtful images tattooed onto me. When I felt I was hitting a wall, he was like a martial arts teacher, patiently guiding me to find my way. Dear Christofer, thanks for your humanity, patience and generosity with your time. I owe similar thanks to my second (only officially second) adviser Mimmi Barmark. I am grateful that Mimmi helped me to develop my own voice in writing, inspired me with her clear thinking, and much more, including healthy balancing work and life. In our discussions in Christofer's office, Mimmi often remained the most "steady and sure" one among us, which helped me enormously in my research.

I feel fortunate to have been surrounded by people who provided indispensable forms of support. Britt-Marie Johansson provides support and encouragement in all stages of my studies. Åsa Lundqvist was kind and caring during my studies. Marie Person enormously helped with many questions both large and small. Rose-Marie Olsson was always helpful in responding to all my requests. Along with Britt-Marie, Chris Mathieu helped me work on research with Region Skåne.

Thanks also to Jens Rydgren, who (with Christofer) led a unique research group at Stockholm University, and also arranged financial support after my final seminar. As a discussant in my final seminar, Alireza Behtoui gave some of the most valuable comments on my thesis work. Thanks also those who read previous versions of my papers: Chris Mathieu, Martin Hällsten, Chris Swader, Nan Lin, Alan Warde, Johan Sandberg, Göran Djurfelt, and Anna-Lisa Lindén. Thanks also to other researchers in the department who commented on my seminar presentations: Steven Sampson, Abdulhadi Khalaf, Mina O'Dowd and others.

Thanks to other researchers in the sociology department with whom I teach and work, or have small chats in the corridors and kitchen, or with whom I worked when the department was at its most silent: Vesa Leppänen, Olle Frödin, Lisa Eklund, Antoinette Hetzler, Ann Mari Sellerberg, David Wästerfors, Magnus Karlsson, Mikael Klintman, and Barbara Schulte. Thanks also to my colleagues: Imad Rassan, Mona Hemmaty, Max Jerneck, Elin Ennerberg, Tullia Jack, Liv Sunnercrantz, Henriette Frees Esholdt, Rasmus Ahlstrand, Anders Hylmö. My long-lasting friendship with Muge Simsek and Neslihan Kaptanoglu, who read the entire thesis, supported me. Thanks also to my parents-in law for being around to support us.

I would like to acknowledge funding from the Swedish Research Council who supported my visit to ICSPR summer school at Ann Arbor, Michigan, and the Swedish Research Council for Health, Working Life and Welfare who provided conference support.

Thanks also to Fatima Raja who carefully edited my thesis.

The sociologists and statisticians at Middle East Technical University (METU) contributed a lot to my work, Particularly Sencer Ayata, who had enormous impact on my intellectual trajectory, and Sibel Kalaylicioglu who encouraged me to take sociology courses during my undergraduate studies.

My mother and my father, I feel lucky to have parents like you who filled my heart and brain with values like a strong commitment to honesty, honour and justice. I hope I can be a parent like you.

This dissertation would not have come to life without Isilay's relentless encouragement, and extreme patience. Through her love, humour, elegance, beauty, and kindness – especially in face of adversity – my eyes brighten and my smile becomes brave. This dissertation is dedicated to you.

Last but not least, my twins. Toprak and Alp, you were born during the end of my thesis. We will have a new story all together. It began very hard, but is now much better, I hope it will continue in the best way.

List of Papers

- I. Kaya, G. & Barmark, M. Traditional versus Experimental Pathways to a University: Educational Aspirations among Young Swedes with and without an Immigration Background (Revised and Resubmitted to *Journal of Youth Studies*).
- II. Kaya, G., Edling, C. & Rydgren, J. The Social Capital of Children from Mixed Unions (Under review *Social Science Research*).
- III. Kaya, G. Cultural Omnivores: a Bridge or a Wall between Ethnically Different Worlds? Evidence from Young People in Sweden (Manuscript).
- IV. Kaya, G. Immigrant Identity, Social Exclusion and Subjective Well-Being: An Explorative Study of Young People in Sweden (Under review *Social Indicators Research*).

Introduction

Aim and Contributions

The early twenties is a period of utmost importance in the lives of young people. It is a time when they confront a series of major changes: leaving the family nest, standing on their own feet, and making serious decisions about school and work. Amidst such profound changes, it becomes hard to perceive the near future, making this a period full of uncertainties. For young people with immigrant background, this time is still more insecure because of the additional difficulties they face in education, employment, and everyday life. They may find themselves in undesirable situations, such as job applications being refused because of their background rather than being evaluated for their actual skills, ideas, and personalities. To be able to resist and overcome these added difficulties, young people with immigrant background need additional resources. Accessing these resources and viewing themselves as respected members of society makes it possible for them to attain better life chances.

In this dissertation, I will examine the determinants of the life chances of young people with immigrant backgrounds. Our understanding of the determinants of life chances¹ is dominated by studies on human capital formation which refer to lists of skills and credentials, e.g. years of education, cognitive skills and work experience. In fact, human capital is a vital determinant of better life chances and the development of skills and credentials is a valuable asset in a knowledge society. Skills and credentials cover a broad terrain, from making the best decisions, to nourishing babies during pregnancy, to improving the quality of public debate. Studies have highlighted the differences in the educational

¹ The term "life chance" (*Lebenschancen* in German) is an old and most important concept in sociology. Max Weber (1978, p. 302) coined the term, defining it as the "shared typical probability of procuring goods, gaining a position in life, and finding inner satisfaction". However, the use of the concept is not always clear. Previous studies have used it in reference to a variety of outcomes including educational achievement (Ritzman & Tomaskovic-Devey, 1991), labour market outcomes such as employment, income, and social assistance (Hermansen, 2017; Massey, Gross, & Eggers, 1991), and being able to take vacation abroad at least once a year (Anikin, Lezhnina, Mareeva, & Tikhonova, 2017). This broad spectrum is useful to understand if people with similar backgrounds are generally able to gain access to valuable or scarce outcomes (Breen, 2009; Giddens, 1973).

qualifications and employment status of young people with and without immigrant background (Alba, Sloan, & Sperling, 2011; Heath, Rothon, & Kilpi, 2008; Hermansen, 2017; van Tubergen, 2006). However, focusing merely on educational and employment credentials predominantly sheds light on formal processes: what is on paper, such as a degree, certificates and skills. In reality, informal relations – who you know or what you know – are no less important in finding a decent job or getting a degree from a prestigious university. Studying life chances primarily in terms of human capital formation also pays little attention to an individual's subjective views on self and his or her place in society, and limits our understanding of how young people view their chances of reaching a respected and advantaged position.

The general contribution of this dissertation is to study the determinants of life chances which research on human capital formation has neglected. To do so, I examine other key forms of capital. First, I study social capital, which refers to resources (e.g. influence, assistance, and information) that individuals may access through their networks (Bourdieu, 1986; N. Lin, 2002; Portes, 2000). Accessing resourceful people in their networks is more likely to advantage people in fulfilling their desired life chances. Second, I examine participation in diverse cultural activities, or cultural omnivorousness. This is a form of cultural capital because a small segment of society, whose members are more influential and in higher socioeconomic positions, is over-represented in activities considered highbrow, e.g. visiting art galleries (Warde, Wright, & Gayo-Cal, 2007). Cultural capital enhances people's knowhow about effectively navigating social life (e.g. becoming familiar with manners and habits, and problem-solving) on the journey to access better life chances. In addition, involvement in diverse cultural activities makes people active participants in cultural life who feel at home in various contexts and develop new social ties. Both social and cultural capital improves life chances when skills, certifications and work experience are not by themselves sufficient to get by in society. When people apply for vacant positions, "who you know" and "tricks from insiders" may advantage some candidates over those who lack similar resources. While I do not argue that social and cultural capital can open all the doors to better life chances for young people with immigrant background, they can potentially make a significant difference.

A subjective understanding of life chances is formed by aspirations and identity. Aspiration refers to plans, i.e. where a person wants to see herself in the future, and how she envisages the possibility that future might materialise (Bourdieu & Passeron, 1990; Dumais, 2002). Studying aspirations gives us insights on how individuals view their potential success in society, which may or may not reflect their actual success. Identities refer here to an individual's affiliation with ethnic and racial categories (e.g. immigrant, Muslim, Swedish, Kurdish). Individuals often tend to affiliate with categories where they find a sense of worth and respect

(Tajfel, 2010). The stronger the affiliation with a specific category, the more likely that individuals within that category share a similar outlook toward life. As identity is salient, people often relate their chances of reaching advantaged positions with "us versus them" thinking – finding a decent job is easier for "them" than for "us"; "they" are successful because of "their" discipline or work ethic, etc. Identity may also emerge from or in reaction to an individual's actual or perceived life chances, e.g. unequal treatment in the labour market, negative stereotypes, or living in immigrant-dense neighbourhoods (Portes & Rumbaut, 2001; Yancey, Ericksen, & Juliani, 1976). Aspirations and identity determine an individual's own understanding of life chances in both direct and indirect ways. Studying aspirations and identity provides a richer understanding of an individual's view of the possibility of becoming an equal and respected member of society.

Research Questions

This dissertation makes a specific contribution on each of the determinants of life chances for young people with immigrant background. In each of four studies, I examine one research question related to the research problems around each determinant of life chances, namely aspirations, capital and identity.

The research questions are as follows:

- 1. To what extent do young people with immigrant background aspire to continue to university? Do they aspire to continue to university directly or along with other plans e.g. traveling and work?
- 2. To what extent do young people with mixed union parents access social capital?
- 3. Do people who pursue a variety of cultural activities (cultural omnivores) bridge ethnically disconnected (i.e. "immigrant" versus Swedish) networks?
- 4. Are young people who define themselves with the stigmatising label *invandrare* (immigrant) additionally disadvantaged relative to others of immigrant origin, i.e. who hold either an explicit ethnic/national identity or immigrants who have no explicit identity?

Because the determinants of life chances for young people with immigrant background depend on the conditions they encounter in the host country, I will begin by providing the study context and then return to the research questions in greater depth.

The Swedish Context

This study focuses on young people of immigrant origin living in Sweden. Accordingly, I will briefly contextualise what "being an immigrant" means in Sweden along three macro-level parameters: demographics, migration politics and social representation in everyday life in media and politics.

Many Swedes emigrated to the United States before and during the twentieth century, while at the end of the century immigrants moved to Sweden from different corners of the world. Finns, Greeks, Yugoslavians and Turks came to fulfil labour demand, mostly at the lower rungs of the labour market. This was followed by a rise in family reunification which led to an increase in the immigrant population. Later still, some groups, predominantly Iranians, Kurds and Chileans, left their home countries due to unrest, such as ethnic conflict, regime change and military coups, and settled in Sweden. After the 1990s, they were joined by people escaping ethnic conflict and wars in the Balkan countries. Most recently, there has been an influx of Syrians due to war in their home country. As a result of these immigration trends, Sweden's foreign-born population has reached 18 percent of the total population, and children with at least one parent born abroad constitute 12 percent of the population (SCB, 2015). That means one in three people in Sweden have an immigrant background, representing origins from over 135 different countries (SCB, 2015). The majority of these - 74 percent - are below thirty years of age. Immigrants as a social category comprise an extremely diverse group that displays significant variation across urban-rural origins, migration trajectory, social classes, ethnicities and religions.

Rather than a comprehensive account, I will provide snapshots of key migration policies. During the 1970s, the Swedish government implemented an ambitious series of policies following the principles of "equality, freedom of choice and partnership" (Borevi, 2014; Government Bill, 1975/76:26.). People of immigrant origin were considered as workers who benefited from equal rights in order to maintain full employment and economic growth (Sainsbury, 2006). They voted in local elections, were entitled to mother-tongue lessons in public schools, and received state support to form ethnic organisations. In the 1980s a series of proposals, government bills and public debates began to focus on the integration of immigrants as individuals rather than as collective actors, with the intent of avoiding segregation (Borevi, 2013). In the 1990s, after the fall of Soviet socialism, major economic crises facilitated neoliberal policies which prioritised market interests over the welfare regime (Jessop, 1993; Schierup, Hansen, & Castles, 2006). Studies in Sweden report that increasing ethnic segmentation in the labour market, part-time work and job flexibility increased economic inequalities (Behtoui, Boréus, Neergaard, & Yazdanpanah, 2017; Schierup et al., 2006; Slavnic & Urban, 2008).

Between 1996 and 2016, governments introduced new restrictions including financial support requirements for family unification (Bech, Borevi, & Mouritsen, 2017). During the same period. European countries applied so-called civic integration policies including introductory courses in the history and culture of the receiving country. While one of its Nordic neighbours, Denmark, became a flagship of such civic policies. Sweden itself did not introduce them as a full package (Bech et al., 2017). However, in 2008, the Centre Alliance government introduced a new law which abolished labour market tests and left decisions about immigration to individual employers. As a result, new immigrants who arrived after the law came into force are overrepresented in already immigrant-dense occupations such as the hotel and restaurant businesses, rather than filling shortages of skilled workers such as doctors and nurses (Emilsson, Magnusson, Törngren, & Bevelander, 2014). Last but not least, nearly 163,000 asylum seekers arrived in Sweden in 2015. Like other EU countries, Sweden implemented strict border controls and faced major challenges in managing the immigration process. In his review essay, Sandberg (2017) states that Sweden was faced with unanticipated consequences from this influx: an upsurge in undocumented immigrants, entrenchment of migration policies that gave more power to employers, shortage of skilled workers and reductions in international development assistance budgets in order to finance the management of newlyarrived migrants. Relatively speaking, migration policies in Sweden provide more social and cultural rights to immigrants than those in the rest of Europe. At the same time. Sweden experiences major policy challenges, ambiguities and controversies in integrating immigrants into mainstream society, along with managing budgets and responding to the country's demographic and economic needs in the future.

When it comes to social representation, "immigrants" are often a cognitively distinct category in Sweden. For the media and social services alike, people of immigrant origin, particularly from non-Western countries, are more likely to be subject to negative stereotypes. For example, the *invandrare* label is often used to connote the inferior, less developed and non-modern (Bredström, 2003; Herz & Johansson, 2012; Torres, 2006). Such people are subject to stigma in the most mundane ways. For example, they are often believed to dress badly, speak loudly in public transportation, and to be unpunctual. In highly formal environments, as in the juridical, immigrants are less likely to have their voices heard (Elsrud, Lalander, & Staaf, 2017). Studies report that people of non-Western origin are often perceived as the least favourable potential partners for unions (Törngren, 2011) and as neighbours (Aldén, Hammarstedt, & Neuman, 2015).

The "immigrant" versus "Swedish" distinction occurs in parallel with segregation, particularly residential segregation. Over the decades, residential areas in large metropolitan areas, particularly, have changed from mixed to immigrant-dense

neighbourhoods. In a study of population registers, Edling (2015) finds 38 metropolitan areas with an average immigrant population of 73 percent. In the same areas, almost half of people (45 percent) do not have jobs, and 25 percent of young people are not in education, employment or training. Other research shows that living in migrant-dense neighbourhoods is often associated with a higher risk of poverty (E. Andersson & Malmberg, 2018; Gustafsson, Katz, & Österberg, 2017) and health risks (Chaix, Rosvall, & Merlo, 2007). Studies show that residential segregation is not only an unanticipated consequence of ambitious housing programmes in the 1960s–1970s, the influx of socioeconomically disadvantaged immigrants has led to the avoidance of the areas by the majority (Bråmå, 2006) and caused better-off residents to move to other neighbourhoods (Aldén et al., 2015). Segregation exacerbates social exclusion by separating and maintaining the distance between people with different ethnic and socioeconomic backgrounds, and is one of the major reasons for the categorical distinction between "immigrant" and "Swedish" in people's minds.

Previous Studies

In this section, I provide a brief overview of earlier studies on the determinants of life chances and key evidence from the Swedish context.

Studies repeatedly report an educational achievement gap between children of immigrants and Swedish-born parents. In the national examinations conducted in the ninth grade, mathematics results show particularly large differences between Swedish-born children and those who were born abroad (Lundahl & Lindblad, 2018). OECD (2016) statistics also show large gaps in reading ability, science and mathematics, with differences of around 10 percentage points between secondgeneration immigrants and natives, and almost 20 percentage points between firstgeneration immigrant children and native-born children. While their educational achievement lags, immigrant children have higher educational aspirations. In their nationwide study, Jonsson and Rudolphi (2011) show that students of immigrant origin choose academic programmes more often than native-born children, even though they fail more often. Behtoui (2017) argues that parents' higher expectations of success for their children is one of the key factors pushing students of immigrant origin to aim high in education. In her study on educational attainment, Urban (2012) finds that immigrant children achieve higher than expected given parental socioeconomic background and that children of lowerincome yet higher-educated parents continue to university to avoid perceived discrimination in the labour market. While previous studies have documented differences in educational outcomes between young people with and without immigrant background, there is a need for research to learn more about what makes people aim high even when they achieve less.

Studies also demonstrate that social capital improves the life chances of young people of immigrant origin. In their studies of Iranian and Yugoslavian immigrants in Sweden, Hällsten, Edling, and Rydgren (2016) show that two forms of social capital (having few unemployed friend and access to an occupational network) explain the 60–70 percentage point difference in unemployment risk between natives and immigrants. In his study of young people graduated from vocational secondary school and university, Behtoui (2008) shows that accessing greater social capital increase wages. Other studies find that social capital correlates with lower rates of depression among young people (Miething, Rostila, & Rydgren, 2017). However, while most studies make important contributions on the *effects* of social capital, less is known about *access* to social capital.

Many studies of the role of identity on life chances examine ethnic identities specifically. The idea that the stronger the identification of ethnic background the lesser the chance of success in society has persisted over time. Studies in Sweden specifically suggest that ethnic identity is not in itself an obstacle to educational attainment and employment (Nekby & Rödin, 2010; Nekby, Rödin, & Özcan, 2009). Virta, Sam, and Westin (2004) find the highest levels of adaptation among adolescents of Turkish origin in Norway and Sweden occur amongst those who affiliate themselves with Turkish identity. Ethnic identity protects against depression, particularly when it enables people to access greater social capital (Miething et al., 2017). While previous studies examine the salience of ethnic identity to the degree of social psychological adjustment to the host society, existing research often views immigrant identity as the explicit ethnic and racial identities of people of immigrant origin. To the best of my knowledge, there are no studies that examine the extent to which people with immigrant identity access social opportunities or reflect on their own place in society in a way that is similar to, or differs from, other people of immigrant origin.

Research Papers

In this section, I introduce four empirical studies that focus on the determinants of life chances. In this dissertation, I study young people aged between 18 and 23.

The first study examines aspirations among young people of immigrant origin at the end of upper secondary education (aged 17–18 years). Because young people begin to diverge into different paths at this stage, it is important to study their aspirations to examine where they hope to see themselves in the near future and how they improvise means of reaching their desired destinations. The second and third studies study social capital and cultural capital. These forms of capital empower young people to cope with difficulties that might arise as they navigate different domains of life, particularly higher education and work. The final study is on identity, and examines how young people view themselves and their place in society.

The four research papers that constitute this dissertation use two separate survey datasets. The first dataset, used in study I, comes from a longitudinal study of ten schools in Malmö. The second dataset, used in studies II-IV, comes from a cohort panel survey of social capital and labour market integration of 19 and 23 years old Swedes with and without an immigrant background. Both datasets are discussed in more detail in the methods section.

Study I: Traditional versus Experimental Pathways to University: Educational Aspirations among Young Swedes with and without an Immigrant Background

In study I, I examine two types of educational aspirations among final-year uppersecondary school students: i) the aspiration to continue to university directly (traditional pathways); and ii) the aspiration to continue to university along with other plans, including travelling and work (experimental pathways).

I expected to find differences in aspirations among young people with and without migration background due to three reasons. First, second-generation immigrants are more likely to aspire to experimental pathways than first-generation immigrants as they are more exposed to the host country-specific culture than the latter. Second, people of immigrant origin have higher aspirations mostly due to their background: immigrant parents and their children often view higher education as a means of achieving social mobility (Kao & Tienda, 1998, 2005). Third, young people of immigrant origin may be determined to enter university to reduce the likelihood of unequal treatment in the labour market (Goyette & Xie, 1999; Sue & Okazaki, 1990).

I found that it is much more common among youth with immigrant background to plan for traditional pathways compared to those of Swedish origin who often tend to take experimental paths to university. Intriguingly, the results show that young people of immigrant origin who were born in Sweden (second-generation immigrants) are more similar to first-generation immigrants than to Swedes in this matter. This difference persists when controlling for factors related to school performance and parental socioeconomic background. The fact that first- and second-generation immigrants differ only slightly with respect to their planned educational pathways indicates that time spent in Sweden is of less importance. If we accept the results, albeit tentatively, we see that exposure to Swedish culture does not add much to explaining the differences found between groups.

The results suggest that immigrant optimism and adverse conditions combine to push young people of immigrant origin to plan to attend university directly and rapidly after completing secondary school. This is due to their desire for success, combined with adverse conditions which may strengthen the belief that directly continuing to university will counteract the discrimination they expect in the labour market (Goyette & Xie, 1999; Kao & Tienda, 1998). This may deprive them of an opportunity to explore the self and life outside university during the formative period of life.

Study II: Accessing Social Capital among Children of Mixed Union Parents

Mixed unions have been seen as a "litmus test" for integration (Alba & Nee, 2003), an engine of social change (Kalmijn, 1998) and an incubator of new lifestyles (Collet, 2012). Many studies argue that children of mixed unions are viewed as similar to the children of native-born parents with respect to the social aspect of integration (Kalmijn, 2015, 2010; Rodríguez-García, 2015). Social capital is the key indicator of social integration. While studies have tended to compare the social capital of children of native-born parents to that of children of immigrant parents (Behtoui, 2017; Nannestad, Svendsen, & Svendsen, 2008; van Tubergen & Volker, 2014), we lack similar studies of mixed-union children. Such studies are important because they allow us to examine if a mixed-union background makes people more advantaged or not.

The study explores the distribution of social capital across geographical and social sources. This is rarely done, but is crucial for explaining where social capital comes from. This insight is useful, particularly for children of mixed unions as they often bridge between ethnically segregated parties. In this study, I examine two sources of social capital: close and strong social ties (e.g. family/kinship), and distant and weak social ties (e.g. acquaintances) (Granovetter, 1973). I also examine access to ties within and beyond national borders (Rodríguez-García, 2015; Vertovec, 1999). This leads to two research questions. How do children of mixed unions access social capital compared to children of native-born parents and children of two foreign-born parents? To what extent do children of mixed unions access social capital in terms of social sources on one hand, and trans-national on the other?

Study II shows that the social capital of children of mixed unions does not fit a general pattern. Children from Yugoslavian-Swedish unions access similar social capital to children of two Swedish-born parents, whereas children from Iranian-Swedish unions access greater social capital. As children of mixed unions do not access social capital uniformly, the results imply that a mixed-union background is not necessarily an (dis)advantage for social capital. These results contrast with studies arguing that mixed unions are a litmus test for social integration (Alba & Nee, 2003). If that had been the case, this study would have shown that mixed-union children access social capital similar to the children of two Swedish-born children.

Instead, the migration background of foreign-born parents influences whether mixed-union children have greater or less access to social capital and whether this is through few or multiple sources. As such, children from Yugoslavian-Swedish unions are more likely to suffer exclusion from family-based social capital whereas the same source of social capital puts Iranian-Swedish children ahead of children of Swedish-born parents. These results are in line with studies (Collet, 2012) that highlight the importance of "thicker description" of mixedness (here referring to the mixed-union context) on life chances.

Study III: Cultural Omnivores: A Bridge or a Wall between Ethnically Different Worlds? Evidence from Young People in Sweden

Cultural omnivores are people who are involved in both lowbrow and highbrow cultural activities (Peterson & Kern, 1996). Previous studies have argued that omnivores have many positive characteristics: they are more tolerant of ethnically and racially different people (Bryson, 1996), and are more cooperative and integrative (van Eijck & Lievens, 2008). Bryson (1996) argues that cultural omnivorousness is a form of multicultural capital which makes interaction between ethnically and racially different people possible. Following these arguments, I expect that omnivores are more likely to be part of networks connecting people who belong to different groups.

On the other hand, studies have also argued that there are limitations to the idea that omnivores are open, suggesting instead that they can be rather exclusive. For instance, omnivores are disproportionately represented in activities pursued by the middle class (Warde & Gayo-Cal, 2009; Warde et al., 2007), while some are loyal to typical products that cultural organisations, such as film societies or restaurant chains, provide, rather than blending them or inventing new ones (Goldberg et al., 2016). Based on this debate, I investigate ethnic network diversity among cultural omnivores by asking whether cultural omnivorousness bridges between people with ethnically different origins (network brokerage), or if, in fact, they are more likely to be part of closed relations among ethnically similar people (network closure).

My research reveals the limitations of the multicultural capital hypothesis. Many studies support their argument based on attitudes towards ethnically and racially different groups, such as tolerance, worldliness and openmindedness (Bryson, 1996; Chan, 2013; van Eijck, 2001). While these attitudes are useful as indicators of cognitive processes (e.g. beliefs and emotions), they are inadequate to capture the structural aspect of social integration. Indeed, the results of my study do not show a strong association between omnivorousness and ethnic brokerage.

One result, however, is an exception to this general finding. Young Swedes with higher-educated parents, who are involved in both highbrow and lowbrow

activities, are more likely to be brokers between ethnic categories. There are two possible explanations for this finding. First, the results show that young Swedes' social networks are more homogenous than those of immigrants (Mollenhorst, Edling, & Rydgren, 2014). When young people are surrounded by ethnically similar others, contact with ethnically different people becomes a source of novelty. In other words, involvement in different cultural opportunities (cultural omnivorousness) helps native-born Swedes encounter ethnically different people who bring novelty to their cultural repertoire. Young people of immigrant origin, on the other hand, are already exposed to diverse ethnic groups in their networks, and so do not experience them as a source of novelty. Second, these young people, particularly those born in Sweden, may be more advantaged regarding involvement in culturally diverse activities. Studies suggest that they have "dual references" and can access the culture of both their parents' country of origin, and their own country of residence (Carter, 2006; Feliciano & Lanuza, 2016; Kao & Tienda, 1998), which may provide them with sufficient novelty. Thus, this result may simply be a by-product of the asymmetrical opportunities accessed by young Swedes with and without immigrant background.

Study IV: Exploring Subjective Well-being and Social Exclusion among People with Immigrant Identity in Sweden

As mentioned above, *invandrare* is often used in a stigmatising way. Following Link and Phelan (2001), I view stigma as a cognitive process (i.e. negative stereotypes attached to certain labels) that co-occurs with social exclusion (that is, separation, discrimination, and status loss).

The following research question guides my investigation: Are young people who define themselves by the stigmatising label *invandrare* additionally disadvantaged relative to others of immigrant origin, i.e. who hold explicit ethnic/national identities, as well as immigrants who have no explicit identity? I explore this question through two sets of social indicators on disadvantage, namely subjective well-being and social exclusion, including access to social capital.

The study yields two results. On one hand, it finds that people with immigrant identity experience greater disadvantages (e.g. higher risk of depression and unemployment) than those with explicit ethnic/national identities, who comprise 75 percent of those of immigrant origin. On the other hand, having *any* identity prevents people with an immigrant identity from falling into the most disadvantaged position. Indeed, those without an explicit sense of self, i.e., having no explicit identity, have the lowest subjective well-being and access the least amount of social capital.

This suggests that stigmatisation and self-identification work in tandem to create (dis)advantage. When people of immigrant background consider themselves as

immigrants, stigmatisation may harm their efforts to become equal members of society. But having any identity at all reduces the negative consequences of stigmatisation. Compared to people with no explicit identity, people with immigrant identity maintain self-confidence and access a certain amount of social capital, which is above that accessed by native-born Swedes. As a result, people with immigrant identity show signs of resisting adverse conditions, suggesting that stigmatisation and its negative consequences fails to create a vicious circle, in which stigma harm the sense of self-worth, in turn making it impossible to address the damage caused.

Aspirations, Capital and Identity

I have introduced the key research elements, research questions, context, aims and contributions of this study. In this chapter, I discuss the three concepts that make up the theoretical core of my analyses of the determinants of life-chances, namely aspirations, capital and identity. This discussion is intended to provide general background rather than forming a comprehensive literature review.

Aspirations

Aspirations are subjective determinants of life chances and refer, at their simplest, to plans (Morgan, 1998; Portes, Vickstrom, Haller, & Aparicio, 2013). However, aspirations do not necessarily entail a deliberate or detailed analysis of the future. When people plan their future, they tend to improvise and to figure out how best to navigate institutions such as school and the workplace (Bourdieu & Passeron, 1990; Dumais, 2002). Studying aspirations gives us an understanding of an individual's view of her future opportunities or constraints: what is possible and what is impossible; which doors are closed, which are not. When young people reflect on their life chances, they project or imagine their future selves. This projection of the future self is an important aspect of human agency (Emirbayer & Mische, 1998; Frye, 2012; Hitlin & Johnson, 2015). Being an active agent improves the ability of young people to respond to and develop strategies against barriers and present conditions. This is particularly important for young people of immigrant origin who often perceive or experience adverse conditions such as discrimination, negative stereotypes, status loss and exclusion or marginalisation in the labour market.

Studies on educational aspirations date back to the 1960s. The status attainment model, or Wisconsin model (Sewell, Haller, & Portes, 1969), was the first systematic theory on educational aspiration. It states that young people who aim high are more likely to succeed than those with lower educational aspirations. According to this theory, aspirations do not simply derive from inner qualities (e.g. ambitious, focus, sharpness), but emerge from social context. The aspirations of parents, teachers, and peers determine one's educational aspirations. In this theory, educational aspirations are a causal mechanism in school success.

On the other hand, studies also challenge the implicit assumptions of the status attainment theory, i.e. that students are free agents and schools are meritocratic systems (Bourdieu & Passeron, 1990; Kerckhoff, 1976). Kerckhoff (1976) proposes that education shapes opportunities by classifying, ranking and allocating students to different tracks. This allocation process shapes the opportunities and constraints behind success or failure in school. In contrast to the status attainment model, Kerckhoff (1976) suggests that aspirations do not play a key role in school success.

Previous research in ethnic and migration studies also downplays the role of aspirations as a causal mechanism of school success. While there are some studies in the literature that do not support this result (Teney, Devleeshouwer, & Hanquinet, 2013), many show a paradoxical relationship between aspirations and achievement, finding that young people with immigrant origin tend to have higher educational aspirations than native-born children (Kao & Tienda, 2005; Raleigh & Kao, 2010; Salikutluk, 2013; Strand & Winston, 2008; Suárez-Orozco, Rhodes, & Milburn, 2009). Jonsson and Rudolphi (2011) come to a similar conclusion in the Swedish context, analysing population registers. The literature thus suggest that educational aspirations require special attention, and that low and high educational aspirations are not merely accounted for by school success. For this reason, I particularly focus on educational aspirations in study I.

However, I realise that studies on educational aspirations often share similar assumptions on how young people navigate education. During the 1980s, studies on educational aspirations implicitly or explicitly followed Mare's educational transition model, which suggests that young people progress in education in a linear, step-by-step process (Mare, 1980). That is, young people are assumed to follow a traditional pathway along a direct line between upper-secondary education and university (Milesi, 2010). Since the 1990s, however, studies of actual pathways (transitions) have shown that the path to a university degree can be much less linear than assumed, and suggest that Mare's model needs updating. For instance, young people often delay entry to university, shift between school programmes, or re-enter education after a certain age (Milesi, 2010; Rindfuss, Swicegood, & Rosenfeld, 1987; Shanahan, 2000). So far, studies on educational aspirations have not used these insights on educational transitions to examine aspirations beyond the traditional pathway. We know very little about how young people who share the aspiration of a university education differ in how they picture their near future, the extent to which they see themselves as taking a "traditional" (direct) pathway to university, and the extent to which they intend to do other things before or in parallel with their university studies.

In doing so, I argue that contextual factors, e.g. institutions and widely-shared meanings, have an impact on aspirations. Across different countries, these

contextual factors lead to strikingly different experiences during the transition from adolescence to adulthood (Billari & Wilson, 2001; Buchmann & Kriesi, 2011). Young people access a variety of opportunities that are provided by institutions across countries (Buchmann & Kriesi, 2011). At the same time, what is accepted as a norm about progression through the educational system in one country is not the same as in another country. In the United States, for example, early entry and completion of university are rewarded in the labour market (see Elman and O'Rand (2007)). In Germany, educational systems classify students into tracks at an earlier age than many other European countries: these shape where they end up in later years. In Italy, young people usually live longer periods of time with their parents to sustain the financial investment in higher education.

When considering contextual factors, experimentation appear to be more prevalent in Nordic countries than other Western countries such as Italy, Germany and the United States (see Cook and Furstenberg (2002)). In Sweden, the state sponsors generous student loans and housing benefits for low-income groups that enable young people who have not yet entered the labour market to become financially independent and less reliant on the family. Many young Swedes, therefore, leave the family nest in their early twenties or before, which is "earliest-early" in Europe (Billari, 2004). At the same time, there is no strict age limit for university education in Sweden. As such, it is common for young people to take some time off from education to travel abroad before, as well as during, their university career (Frändberg & Vilhelmson, 2011). Young people are also encouraged to explore individual plans. Changing study programmes during university is very common, as well as studying and working at the same time.

In study I, I distinguish between two major pathways: the traditional and the experimental. As stated above, the former refers to a direct transition from upper secondary school to university, whilst the latter refers to a path where higher education is combined with, or preceded by, other things, such as work and travel. Study I thus looks at aspired educational pathways, rather than the actual route or transition from one level of education to another. I examine the research question: to what extent do people with and without immigrant background differ in their aspired pathways? To study this question, I discuss three possible explanations: i) exposure to a country-specific culture; ii) immigrant optimism; and iii) adverse conditions.

Given that the degree of exposure to the culture of experimentation determines to what extent young people plan a traditional or an experimental path to university, we would expect to find a difference between first and second-generation immigrants in this respect. Those who have lived their whole lives in Sweden should, if the argument holds, be more inclined to an experimental path than those who have spent part of their childhood in their parents' country of origin. Alternatively, studies suggest that immigrant parents and their children – whether born in Sweden or abroad – share positive attitudes toward education (Kao & Tienda, 1998, 2005). This may be because immigrants are selective groups: those who move to another country may have higher expectations about their life chances (immigrant optimism) and view tertiary education as a vehicle for upward social mobility (Heath et al., 2008). To do well in school is also an important cultural component in some immigrant groups, such as Chinese and Mexican immigrants in the United States (Hardway & Fuligni, 2006). Based on this hypothesis, I expect that young people of immigrant origin have strong timing norms, i.e. they may expect to get an educational degree without any delays. Some have already lost school time because of immigration, and are less tolerant of additional delays in their education. In other words, they are more likely to rush into entering and exiting university.

Studies also examine the role of adverse conditions on aspirations. One theoretical version of adverse conditions is oppositional culture theory which finds that in the United States young people may have low or high educational aspirations depending on ethnic and racial history (Fordham & Ogbu, 1986; Mickelson, 1990). For example, "voluntary minorities" (e.g. Asians) have higher educational aspirations than whites, whereas "involuntary minorities" (e.g. African Americans) have lower aspirations than the white majority. According to the oppositional culture theory this is because they have oppositional views on studying in white schools and succeeding (that is, also in opposition to dominant culture). The perspective argues that ethnic and racial status per se is sufficient explanation for low versus high aspirations.

This argument has sparked substantial debate in the literature. In the United States, some studies have rejected the oppositional culture theory (Downey, Ainsworth, & Qian, 2009). Outside the United States, studies do not support the theory's classification of immigrants as voluntary versus involuntary (e.g. immigrants from former colonies in the Netherlands versus labour immigrants) (see (van Tubergen & van Gaans, 2016)). In my opinion, this classification leads to a narrow view of aspirations. For example, some refugees who move to Sweden and other Western countries do not fit this picture. For refugees, the necessity of escaping conflicts is mixed with expectations of better life chances in the new country. For this reason, the oppositional culture theory has limited applicability in the Swedish context.

If oppositional culture theory is not a useful perspective, then how do we look at the role of adverse conditions on aspirations? Studies suggest that young people opt to stay longer in school when they anticipate adverse conditions in the future (Brinbaum & Cebolla-Boado, 2007; Goyette & Xie, 1999; Sue & Okazaki, 1990). This is often because the cost of facing unequal treatment in the labour market is higher than that of spending more time in education. Many studies argue that discrimination is the major adverse factor in the labour market. On the other hand, people view their life chances differently if they perceive or experience unequal treatment in the labour market (Teney et al., 2013). Some may aim high to counterbalance stereotypical images, e.g. the idea that immigrants are more disadvantaged and less educated. Others may feel anxious about their educational credentials or see their parents and relatives experience status loss, i.e. not being able to obtain equal credentials to the education earned in the home country. Status loss among parents, depriving them of economic and social returns from education, may lead some young people to prioritise higher education. Still others may give up expectations from education and instead prioritise economic returns, e.g. through self-employment. Thus, multiple mechanisms may operate in the link between adverse conditions and aspirations.

Forms of Capital

In this section, I will discuss two forms of non-economic capital: social and cultural. First, however, I will briefly introduce the term "capital".

I follow Pierre Bourdieu's definition of capital (1986). In his own terms, capital refers to "accumulated labour (in its materialized form or its 'incorporated,' embodied form) which, when appropriated on a private, i.e., exclusive, basis by agents or groups of agents, enables them to appropriate social energy in the form of reified or living labour" (Bourdieu, 1986, p. 46). This definition retains some elements of Marx's view of capital while others disappear. It follows Marx's basic view that capital is a scarce and valuable resource that only people in advantaged positions can access more of. However, political economic analysis of capital accumulation, as such the antagonistic relation between labour and capitalists, disappears (Calhoun, 1993). This divergence from Marx may arise from the influence of human capital theory developed by Shultz and Becker in the 1960s. According to this theory, skills, qualifications, and experiences gathered through education, training, and work enable individuals to add more to their life than purchasing power. Human capital also empowers workers to negotiate with their bosses for their labour, and to influence the organisation and management of the work process. The influence of human capital theory is profound in Coleman's definition of capital. Coleman (1988) argues that social capital helps a market to function by easing the flow of information and assistance. In the following section, I will examine two forms of capital: accessing resources through social networks (social capital), and involvement in diverse cultural activities (cultural capital).

Accessing Resources through Social Networks

I use social capital to mean resources (e.g. assistance, information, and influence) in social networks (Bourdieu, 1986; N. Lin, 2002; Portes, 2000). Alternative definitions also cover generalised trust, active social life (Putnam, 2007) and social control in small communities (Coleman, 1988). Why then do I not use these alternative definitions?

In study II, I use Nan Lin's theory of social capital, which is a combination of social resource theory, and network theory. Although I draw upon this theory, I do not argue that it is the only or the best form of social capital theory. Certainly, some alternative views suffer from logical problems. For example, some studies have defined social capital as a property of large units (e.g. governments, regions). Robert Putnam (2007) defines social capital as the civic properties of nations and regions. This definition suffers from circular thinking (see Portes, 2000). In this definition, social capital is both a cause and an effect, e.g. civic cities have civic organisations and it is hard to distinguish what creates social capital and how social capital affects an outcome. Other alternative definitions do not capture a broader view of social structure. In his definition Coleman (1988) focuses on strong ties, i.e. people are part of immediate social circles (e.g. teachers-parentsstudents). This narrows our view of the social structure. Granovetter (1973) introduces the idea that weak ties open up novel insights and influences beyond immediate social circles. Likewise, later studies find that brokering between cohesive units that otherwise lack connecting ties (known as structural holes) is a form of social capital (Burt, 2009). Following Grannovetter, Nan Lin provides a broader view of social structure by studying social capital that can be generated as resources from both strong and weak ties in the social network. In study II, this definition of social capital allows me to examine the extent to which individuals generate resources (information, assistances, influence) from a variety of sources including family and kin (strong ties) and acquaintances (weak ties).

Lin's social capital theory is based on three propositions: i) strength of position; ii) strength of resources; and iii) strength of ties. The first proposition relates to an individual's and their family's position in the socioeconomic hierarchy. Figure 1, below, depicts the use of social capital in a hierarchical social structure. E refers to the socioeconomic position of the ego. C and D refer to the alter, i.e. the ego's social ties, including acquaintances and family members. C* and D* are the destinations that young people can reach with the help of their contacts, C and D. According to his first proposition, the individual's initial position determines access to social capital. People in higher socioeconomic positions. Not all people are lucky enough to be born with parents who are already embedded in a rich network

of connections (e.g. the children of professors, medical specialists or financial managers).

According to his second proposition, the resources at the top are scarce, less reachable, and more influential for life chances than those at lower positions (N. Lin, 1999). Through C and D, the ego can reach new socioeconomic positions, C* and D* respectively. N. Lin (2002) uses a pyramid analogy to describe the unequal distribution of social resources (see Figure 1). In this figure, C is more influential on the life chances of ego than D, being located at a higher socioeconomic position. With the help of C, the ego can reach position C*, which is less than or equal to the actual position of C. For illustrative purposes, I give only one example of where C* could be located; for instance, C* could be located near C.

The strength of the tie in Lin's third proposition comes from two ideas in social network theory. The first is homophily, the idea that birds of a feather flock together. In the figure below, if E moves up in the pyramid, she or he is more likely to find similar others in her/his social circle. Due to homophily, if E moves up substantially, he or she is more likely to connect with C. The second idea is Granovetter (1973) strength of weak ties theory. According to this, resources are more likely to be novel and influential when they are generated outside immediate social circles. In other words, a weak tie is in fact stronger as it allows one to move upwards in the pyramid.



Figure 1 The Use of Social Resources in a Hierarchical Social Structure Source: N. Lin, Ensel, and Vaughn (1981, p. p.396) Note: E= State of the Ego, C, D=Status of the contact, C*, D* =Status of the destination

Lin's nuanced perspective is a significant contribution to social capital theory. In addition to its theoretical complexity, this approach also uses and measures social capital in precise terms. Social capital has three dimensions, namely sources (who provide the resources), the receiver (who benefits from social capital), and resources (assistance, information, influence) (see similar usage in (Garip, 2008; N. Lin, 2002; Portes, 2000)). In my research, I have used a similar approach by referring to sources (family, kin, acquaintances, transnational ties, ties in Sweden), receivers (children of mixed unions, two foreign-born parents and native-born parents) and resources (influences, assistances and information from different positions in the socioeconomic hierarchy).

Lin's theory distinguishes between access to and return from social capital.² To examine the influence of social capital, we need to know first where it comes from, that is, how people develop social capital. Accessing social capital does not guarantee that it will have a positive impact on life chances. To explore the return of social capital, it is necessary to examine how it is mobilised, that is, how contacts and the resources they provide are used. Smith (2008) examines this in a study of African Americans in the United States. She finds that African Americans in poor neighbourhoods could access other African Americans in middle-class positions. However, to avoid risking their own reputation at work the middle-class contacts would refuse to provide the help requested. As Smith's research shows, caution is needed when interpreting research on access to social capital.

Both expressive action – sharing emotions, sense of worth, and feeling valued – and instrumental action are part of Lin's theory. However, the empirical analysis conducted by Lin and his followers mostly focuses on instrumental action. The theory is applied to a lesser extent to expressive action. I often find that Lin's social capital is used more in the status attainment process than social psychological processes such as identity, stereotypes, and affective relations. This is often because Lin emphasises that individuals invest in their relations to expect returns. His theory assumes purposive action and downplays the origin of tie formation beyond individual intentions or goals.

In fact, accessing social capital may also be beyond an individual's instrumental goals. In his study among mothers of children at the same childcare centres in the United States, Small (2009) shows that new ties emerge as organisations (here, childcare centres) play the role of a broker. Mothers primarily go to childcare centres to get services for their children, and an unintended consequence of this purposive act is the formation of connections to new people (Small, 2009).

² The two processes are similar to potentiality in Bourdieu's definition of social capital. Bourdieu (1986, p. 51) defines social capital as "the aggregate of the actual or potential resources which are linked to possession of a durable network of more or less institutionalized relationships of mutual acquaintance or recognition".

Similarly, social capital may emerge through mundane activities such as smoking and chatting during breaks at work. Larger structures also shape access to social capital. Wilson (2012) influential study argues that deindustrialisation, and positive discrimination have encouraged middle-class African Americans to leave inner cities. The working-class African Americans who remain become increasingly isolated.

Other forms of social capital include brokerage and closure, which I examine in study III. These relate to structural positions that create advantages. Brokerage bridges disjoint networks that have competing views or contradictory norms (Burt, 2001; Stovel & Shaw, 2012). As Stovel and Shaw (2012, p. 140) write, "without such acts of brokerage, we would all live much narrower and in many respects, more impoverished lives". In closed networks, or closure, advantage comes from established trust and cooperation among actors (Burt, 2001). While brokerage is the most open form of network and encourages diverse and unusual ideas, closure maintains the status quo, and reinforces current beliefs and norms. If a person displays a belief or behaviour that does not align well with those held within a closed network, she or he is more likely to face sanction (Burt, 2005). These contrasts between the two forms of social capital are complementary.

Empirical studies of social capital often highlight that it enables people to be more advantaged and to achieve their desires. When people interact with resourceful people at higher socioeconomic positions, social capital is expected to have positive returns. We can list various examples of social capital's positive effects, from reducing the symptoms of depression (Bassett & Moore, 2013) to decreasing the risk of unemployment (Hällsten et al., 2016) and doing well in school (Stanton-Salazar, 1997). Social capital is a valuable asset particularly for those who need more in life, such as members of lower income groups, residents of disadvantaged areas and victims of stigmatisation. This makes social capital an essential resource for young people of immigrant origin who need additional resources to cope with difficulties in the labour market and everyday life.

To study social capital as a determinant of life chances, we also need to consider its downsides. Portes (2014) lists conditions when it becomes a disadvantage. High social capital may restrict freedom, exclude outsiders and endorse harmful norms. According to the ethnic enclave hypothesis, working in ethnic minority businesses promotes togetherness and mutual benefits between co-ethnic employees and employers, but these tightly-knit ethnic relations are not necessarily win-win situations (Sanders & Nee, 1987; Waldinger, 1993). Employers gain more income in return for their human capital in ethnic enclaves than similar employers in the mainstream labour market where rights and job security are more regulated. For ethnic minority employees, on the other hand, income return in exchange for human capital in enclave businesses is lower than for people in similar jobs in the mainstream labour market (Sanders & Nee, 1987). Another example is of remittances. Studies also find that migration networks can exert social pressure to send remittances to the homeland (Chort, Gubert, & Senne, 2012; Lindley, 2009). Social capital may prevent people from accessing better life chances.

In study II, I study access to social capital as a necessary step to understand how it influences life chances. Particularly, I study the social capital of children of mixed-union parents. "Mixed union" refers to marriages or partnerships in which one parent is born in a foreign country and the other in Sweden. One viewpoint is that children of mixed unions are similar to children of native-born parents when it comes to social integration. Studies often view mixed-union children as advantaged, accessing more opportunities than children from two foreign-born parents, as they typically do not participate in strong ethnic affiliations (Alba, 1990). In his study in the Netherlands, Kalmijn (2010) argues that children of mixed unions are accepted as members of the ethnic majority because their parents live in less segregated neighbourhoods and have more contacts with the majority. This argument implies that children of mixed unions access social capital like children of native-born parents. Another argument is that mixed-union parents and their children may be subject to stigmatisation due to physical appearance, foreign-sounding names, or general prejudice leading to rejection, exclusion, and disapproval (Kalmijn, 2015; Rodríguez-García, 2015; Song, 2009). Stigma creates difficulties for mixed-union children in joining ethnically homogenous networks where endogamy may be a norm. A second viewpoint is that the social integration of children of mixed unions is somewhere between that of the children of immigrant parents and the children of native-born parents. Following this insight, we might expect mixed-union children to access less social capital than children with native-born parents but more than children of two foreign-born parents.

In my view, these two expectations are complementary. That is, mixed-union children access greater opportunities to form new ties because of their fluency in the native language, familiarity with host country education, and exposure to a diverse culture at home, compared to children of two foreign-born parents. At the same time, they may not feel like full members of society particularly when a parent comes from a background that is subjected to negative stereotypes. Studies provide a general explanation of social integration and often focus on social networks with the ethnic majority. In study II, I offer a more comprehensive view of social capital, examining multiple sources, including strong social ties (e.g. family/kinship) distant and weak social ties (e.g. acquaintances) (Granovetter, 1973) as well as ties within and beyond national borders (Rodríguez-García, 2015; Vertovec, 1999). Multiple sources of social capital particularly reflect the mixed-union context. As mixed unions cut across affiliations, such as ethnic background,

country of origin, and religion, children from these unions may be part of multiple social circles.

Involvement in Diverse Cultural Activities

In this section, I examine involvement in diverse forms of cultural activity at the individual level. I begin with a brief overview of key studies in the literature.

Before the 1990s, a distinction between lowbrow and highbrow culture dominated cultural sociology. Lowbrow refers to hedonic engagement – seeking pleasure or fun – while highbrow refers to aesthetic appreciation (van Eijck, 2001). Contemporary examples of lowbrow culture may include, for example, Netflix binge-watching, and reading popular crime series, while highbrow culture may mean an interest in certain art movements, or listening to classical music from a specific era. What is lowbrow versus highbrow is not, however, self-evident, but is "legitimised" by people in influential positions (Bourdieu, 1984). After the 1990s, the thesis of cultural omnivorousness gained prominence. This argues that omnivores replace cultural snobs (i.e. those who restrict their activities to highbrow activities) over time (Peterson & Kern, 1996). A quick look at citation reports from the Web of Science (2017), the number of studies on this subject has risen thirteen-fold over the last decade.

In his study of classical music organisations in Boston, Dimaggio (1987) examines the emergence of the highbrow-lowbrow distinction over time. He finds that it was fuzzy before the nineteenth century and emerged at the turn of the twentieth century when the so-called Boston Brahmins (an urban elite) established organisations to differentiate "art" from "entertainment". In her comparative study on the upper middle classes in France and the United States, Lamont (1992) suggests that taste (cultural preference) is more autonomous in France than the United States due to the former's centralised education system, intellectual subculture, and ethnic homogeneity. According to Lamont (1992), the middle class in the United States do not use "taste" to draw a clear line between classes, instead they define cultural distinctions through moral signals such as honesty and work ethic. Finally, Peterson and Kern (1996) argue that highbrows are not snobs, but are eclectic. They argue that omnivorousness rose after the 1980s as a result of educational expansion, increasing ethnic/racial tolerance, geographical mobility, and a flourishing market in art production.

How does involvement in diverse forms of cultural activity matter for the life chances of young people of immigrant origin? Involvement in highbrow activities is a form of cultural capital because a small segment of society consisting of those in higher socioeconomic and influential positions are overrepresented in highbrow culture, which makes it a scarce and prestigious resource. Most studies which compare cultural omnivores and cultural snobs have found that the omnivores actually attend theatre, opera and museums more than cultural snobs (Lopez-Gonzalez, Aravena, & Hummer, 2005; López-Sintas & Katz-Gerro, 2005). As cultural omnivores are more involved in highbrow culture, omnivorousness can be considered a form of cultural capital (Warde et al., 2007).³ Previous studies suggest that involvement in highbrow activities has a direct influence on life chances. Studies report that it is often positively associated with school achievement, educational attainment and partner selection (DiMaggio, 1982; DiMaggio and Mohr, 1985). As omnivorousness is a form of cultural capital, we can argue that it may have similar influences on life chances as involvement in highbrow activities.

In addition to its direct influences, cultural capital has more indirect vet no less important influences on life chances. Cultural capital empowers people to cope with barriers; it acts as an aura consisting of certain signals and manners that may provide an advantage in informal situations. In her studies of ethnic minorities in the United States, Rivera (2015) finds that the interviews and CV screening processes have a positive bias towards candidates who give certain signals (such as "knowledgeable", "resourceful", "worldly"). Cultural capital empowers people of immigrant origin during periods of insecurity⁴ such as whilst seeking employment, entering new social circles and starting a new job. Participating in cultural activities enriches "know-how" about cultural codes, i.e. what is "normal", what is "valued", "what helps people get ahead". At the same time, participating in diverse cultural activities including low and highbrow cultural activities enhances a sense of belonging. Active involvement in cultural life makes people feel more at home. Last but not least, involvement in cultural activities can expand the chances of forming new ties. Shared interests or focuses bring people together (Feld, 1981; Lizardo, 2006).

In study III, I investigate the associations between ethnic diversity in social networks and cultural diversity at an individual level (cultural omnivorousness). Previous studies have attached great value to omnivores as progressive agents in society, claiming that they opt for environmentally-friendly products, are liberal

³ While omnivorousness is one form of cultural capital, in study III, I did not examine all aspects of cultural capital. In addition to involvement in highbrow culture, there exist other aspects of cultural capital, namely embodied (or incorporated) and institutionalised (Bourdieu, 1984; Michele Lamont & Lareau, 1988; Lareau & Weininger, 2003). The former relates to practices (attitudes, preferences and behaviours) acquired through socialisation, such as growing up in an environment full of books. The latter relates to resources, such as degrees and diplomas. Because all aspects of cultural capital are not discussed in study III, I do not use the term in the study.

⁴ When I highlight the role of cultural capital during an uncertain period of life, I take inspiration from the argument of culture as a toolkit (Swidler, 1986). Broadly speaking, culture (e.g. habits, skills, strategies) determines actions during an uncertain period of time. Individuals use culture in creative ways, such as inventing new strategies to overcome difficulties.
on immigrants' rights, and strengthen institutions and development (Chan, 2013; Chan & Goldthorpe, 2007). Studies often assume "omnivores" are a group of people with distinct identity or traits, such as being skilled in interactions with outside groups (Bryson, 1996; van Eijck & Lievens, 2008). For this reason, Bryson (1996) suggests that omnivorousness is a form of multicultural capital. If cultural omnivorousness is multicultural capital, we expect that omnivores are more likely to be part of network brokerage, connecting people who are otherwise disconnected. Although studies often highlight the links between "openness" and omnivorousness, others argue that omnivores also exclude outsiders. They find that omnivores are represented disproportionately in middle-class activities (Warde & Gayo-Cal, 2009; Warde et al., 2007). In study III, I examine whether omnivores bridge ethnically dissimilar groups (network brokerage) or build walls enclosing ethnically similar people (network closure).⁵

There is another way of thinking about the association between brokerage/closure and omnivorousness. According to Stovel and Shaw (2012), brokerage is more influential on behaviours and preferences when actors belong to different categories (e.g. different ethnic origins). This is because disconnected parties tend to have greater biases against out-groups and greater cohesive relations with ingroup members (Stovel & Shaw, 2012). For this reason, individuals who participate in cross-ethnic brokerage are more likely to be involved in cultural activities. In contrast, closed networks within the same category reinforce the contrast between insiders and outsiders. A closed network within the same category flattens variety in cultural consumption and crystallises similar behaviours (Fuhse, 2012). This strengthens a sense of belonging among members. In contrast to brokerage *between* categories, closure *within* categories reflects exclusivity of cultural activities. In other words, it is expected that brokerage and closure are associated with omnivorousness in a different way: the former expands the cultural repertoire, the latter narrows it down.

Identity

Identity is arguably one of the most complex concepts in sociology. Its popularity as an object of study accelerated after a sequence of historic events in the last decades of the twentieth century such as the Chernobyl disaster, the fall of the

⁵ It is not always clear if omnivorousness refers to involvement in diverse activities, or a greater volume of activities. To avoid this, I follow the insight of Warde and Gayo-Cal (2009); Warde et al. (2007) omnivorousness is not characterised as singular and integrated cultural consumption. Rather, it has two components: volume (breadth of cultural involvement) and composition (involvement in both highbrow or legitimate and lowbrow culture).

Berlin Wall and dissolution of state socialism. With these historic changes happening alongside economic crises, new theories on identity emerged among critics of modernity. Some sociologists highlight identity as increasingly individualised instead of relating to social class. Giddens (1991), for example, emphasises that increased lifestyle options help people explore unique approaches to self-actualisation (e.g. reading self-help guides and going to a variety of therapies). Key thinkers like Bauman (2000) argue that maintaining a durable sense of self is increasingly impossible in the fluidity of modernity. Jenkins (2004) argues that critiques of modernity emphasise differences more than similarities in sense of self. Amidst this increasing interest, identity turns out to be a nebulous concept that can bear a variety of meanings, including groupness, self-understanding, political interests and more (see Brubaker and Cooper (2000).

At the micro level, identity is a soft concept in social psychology. It may encompass roles and relations (employee/employer, mother/father), categories (ethnic and racial categories) and personal idiosyncrasies (football fan, operagoer) (Owens, Robinson, & Smith-Lovin, 2010; Thoits & Virshup, 1997). For practitioners in politics and the media, the concept trips off the tongue and is frequently used in a reified way. It becomes a nametag carried on the chest from cradle to grave: "immigrant", "Muslim", and many others. If identity is such a difficult and complex concept, why study it?

In study IV, I use social identity theory as a generic explanation for different types of self-identification including ethnic categories and stigmatised labels. This helps to provide a simple explanation for inter-group process. Identity refers to being a member of categories. Known as minimal group paradigms, this theory has emerged from lab experiments. Tajfel (2010) randomly distributed artificial "red" and "blue" tags amongst participants. These were sufficient to influence individuals' behaviours against people from different categories. This points towards "accentuation effects" – people tend to exaggerate the similarity of objects within a category and the differences between objects in different categories (Abrams and Hogg, 2004; Hogg, 2006). This simple idea is often used to explain phenomena like ethnic conflict, discrimination and group favouritism.

In social identity theory,⁶ category membership shapes how people view who is in and who is out. Through one's categorical membership one strives to be a part of the collective and identify with a positive self, e.g. honour, dignity, pride and even

⁶ While I use social identity theory as a generic process, it is limited in examining the role of social structure, or the position an individual occupies in the socioeconomic hierarchy and social networks. Identity theory (also known as structural or sociological identity theory) studies the salience of roles regarding the changing characteristics of social networks (Burke & Stets, 1999). In recent decades, researchers have begun to combine identity theory and social identity theory to study the role of category and social network contexts on individual behaviour (see for example Mcfarland and Pals (2005)).

superiority (Tajfel, 2010). According to social identity theory, self-identification goes back and forth between twin processes: what "we" think about "them", and what "they" think about "us" (Hogg, 2006; Jenkins, 2004; Tajfel, 2010). Identity is therefore a dynamic process involving two opposing paths.

In study IV, I view identity as an intermediate factor, one influenced by social structure and that influences subjective outcomes like attitudes, beliefs and desires. Identity is a subjective understanding of life chances. As social identity theory puts it, identity gives a certain outlook towards life based on us/them distinctions. It is also important to ask to what extent life chances manifest in identity saliences, i.e. the relative strength of certain categories in the self.

Earlier studies have suggested that identity becomes more or less salient depending on differing life chances. For example, Waters (1994) suggests that ethnic identity is a "choice" in which some ethnic and racial groups have more identity possibilities, whereas for others it has limited possibilities or is not even an option. If we apply the perspective in Swedish context, for example, children from a British-Swedish union living in Sweden may opt to maintain British identity. People may have positive attitudes towards the British for their sense of humour or attractive accent based on their favourite BBC dramas. For those children were one parent comes, for instance, from a Middle Eastern country, the options may be more limited.

Likewise, Portes and Rumbaut (2001) argue that ethnic identity is "made in" a certain country (in their study context, they argue it is made in the United States). They suggest that ethnic identity is a reactive identity. That is, when people confront adverse conditions, their ethnicity is a defence strategy which helps them to build solidarity with co-ethnics (see Portes and Rumbaut (2001)). As these studies suggest, identity is not simply a cause or a push factor for life chances; rather, it may emerge from, or in reaction to, unequal life chances. Taken together, these studies show that identity may determine life chances in different ways, including through indirect and co-occurring ways (for example, a feedback loop).

In study IV, I use insights from the studies discussed above to compare and contrast different identity types: no (explicit) identity, ethnic identity and immigrant identity. The study is particularly focused on immigrant identity. In many European countries, the label immigrant denotes "the other". Previous studies have examined the social construction process, that is, how negative attributes are constructed in official documents, speeches, and dialogue in media, politics and the public sector. As such, "immigrant" often refers to a threat to society: violent and living in poor socioeconomic conditions (see, for example, (Finney & Simpson, 2009; Gruner, 2010; Korteweg & Yurdakul, 2009). Sweden is no exception. In Swedish, the term *invandrare* (immigrant) is often used to mean "non-Swedish" in everyday life. It has negative connotations, suggesting someone

who is loud, lazy, less modern and prone to crime (Bredström, 2003; Herz & Johansson, 2012; Torres, 2006). Looking at this general stigma, I examine the following research question: are people with immigrant identity (self-identifying as "immigrant") additionally disadvantaged compared to other people of immigrant origin with different identities?

To examine the consequences of stigmatisation, I follow the insights of Link and Phelan (2001) on stigma to help focus on certain properties of social structure where social identity theory has limitations. Their broader perspective opens up questions beyond the social construction of immigrant identity. Stigma is more than a cognitive process. To understand immigrant identity, they focus on the use of stigmatising labels to identify oneself, e.g. immigrant, Muslim, Kurd, and more. Link and Phelan (2001) list four dimensions of stigma: labelling, separation, status loss, and discrimination. The dimensions are not the cause or effect of each other, rather they co-occur. When a greater number of dimensions occur at the same time, people suffer from stigma to a greater degree. That is, if people with certain identities live also a separate and unequal life, in addition to experiencing rejections when applying for jobs, they suffer from greater stigma than people with the same identity who exhibit fewer dimensions of stigma. This insight allows us to compare people with an explicitly "immigrant" identity compared to those of immigrant origin who share the same ethnic identity but not the explicit sense of self. All may suffer from stigma, yet some suffer more. Using certain social indicators, like social capital, unemployment, and subjective well-being, I explore if people with immigrant identity are more disadvantaged than those without. In other words, the question is whether internalising the "immigrant" label leads to more stigma.

Research Design

Sampling and Survey Methodology

The studies in this thesis are based on two data sources. Both datasets use a survey methodology, which has been the major data collection technique in quantitative sociology over the decades. It focuses on both internal validity – to hit the target of what we measure – and external validity – the ability to generalise the results.

Survey of Ten Upper Secondary Schools in Malmö⁷

The dataset for study I comes from the second wave of a longitudinal survey in ten upper secondary schools in Malmö. Students were interviewed between 2011 and 2013. Strategic sampling was used to select the sample. Since the total number of schools was relatively small and since the schools differ considerably in terms of the programmes they offer, as well as the size and social composition of the student body, a strategic sampling method was considered to be the best way to obtain a representative sample. Looking at the representation of students relative to the general population in Malmö, I checked that students of immigrant origin in natural and social science programmes in upper secondary education in Malmö for the educational year 2013–2014 are, respectively, 54 percent and 37 percent (Skolverket., 2017). In the sample, the proportions are 57 percent and 40 percent respectively. This shows a possible bias which, however, is not large enough to cause serious problems in the models.

The total number of students registered at the selected schools (1,169) constituted 32 percent of the total number of students registered at all secondary schools in Malmö that year (3,647). Of the students still registered at one of the selected schools, 708 pupils participated in the second survey. In order to make the categories more distinct in study I, I focus on students of either non-Western or Swedish origin (i.e. respondents who are themselves born in these countries or have parents who are). We thus excluded 23 respondents of Western European and North American origin. The reason for this is that this is a small group of countries

⁷ The project "An educational dilemma: school achievement and multicultural incorporation" (2010–2013) was funded by the Swedish Research Council and organised by Mats Trondman.

and several of them (especially the other Nordic countries) resemble Sweden with regard to the culture of experimentation. For example, in the United Kingdom, the "gap year phenomenon" leads to young people often taking a year off from their studies to focus on their personal development (King, 2011). We also expect this category of immigrants to experience less unequal treatment in the labour market ("adverse conditions") and that the migrant optimism hypothesis does not apply to them to the same extent as other immigrant groups. This brings the sample size down to 685 students. The majority of students with a migration background remaining in the sample are born in, or have parents who are born in, the Middle Eastern countries (e.g. Iraq, Lebanon, Turkey), the Balkan countries (Bosnia, Kosovo and Serbia), east or southeast Asia (e.g. Vietnam) and South American countries (e.g. Chile).

Social Capital and Labour Market Integration⁸

This dataset was used for studies II, III and IV. The sample is based on three different groups of Swedes, all born in 1990:

- a) All individuals with at least one parent born in Iran;
- b) Fifty percent of all individuals with at least one parent born in former Yugoslavia; and
- c) A simple random sample of 2,500 individuals with two Swedish-born parents.

Young Swedes with parents from Iran and Yugoslavia are mostly long-term residents in Sweden. Those in the former group mostly came to the country during the 1970s and 1980s, before and during the Islamic Revolution in Iran. This group is more likely to comprise middle-class and secular individuals who lived in urban areas in Iran. Yugoslavians, on the other hand, arrived in two waves of migration. The first group came to Sweden as labour migrants during the 1960s and 1970s, and are mostly from lower socioeconomic backgrounds. The second wave comprises refugees who fled traumatic experiences in the Balkan wars during the 1990s. Finally, the third part of the sample, comprising young people with two Swedish-born parents, is essential to compare and contrast their life chances with those of people with immigrant backgrounds.

These three groups were surveyed and interviewed over the telephone by Statistics Sweden twice; once in 2009 when the respondents were 19 years old, and then in

⁸ The *Social Capital and Labour Market Integration* survey is managed by Christofer Edling and Jens Rydgren. The first wave was funded by a grant to Edling by the Swedish Council for Working Life and Social Research (FAS 2007-0806). The second wave was funded by a grant to Rydgren from the European Research Council (ERC 263422). Both waves were approved by the regional ethical review board in Stockholm.

2013 when the respondents were 23. A survey sample of 5,695 individuals was selected for interview by telephone between October and December 2009. The response rate was 51.6 percent in the first wave (Total: 2,943; n=632 for Iranians, 928 for Yugoslavians, 1,382 for Swedes) and 38.5 per cent in the second wave (Total: 2,244; n=501 for Iranians, 675 for Yugoslavians, 1,068 for Swedes). A non-response analysis was done for the first sample and reveals that immigrant background; low education level (individuals' own and parents'), low grades and living in large cities were associated with a lower response rate. The most common reason for non-response, at 37.6 percent, was because respondents were not at home. Only 8.1 percent refused to participate. Response rates in Sweden have dropped in recent years mainly due to the growing popularity of prepaid mobile phones, which makes the initial contact more difficult.

As the sample is designed for a theory-driven data analysis, the database includes questions which are often not available in general social surveys. The same survey is unique in studying social networks and social capital. Few national surveys exist for studying both social networks/social capital and questions about behaviours, attitudes of individual actors and their connections (e.g. friends, acquaintances). Surveys like the *General Social Survey* in the United States, the *Survey of the Social Networks of the Dutch*, and the *Swedish Social Capital and Labour Market Integration* survey provide instruments for measuring social networks and social capital. In addition, the same survey data is calibrated with population registers. The corresponding samples from population registers provide the most reliable information about the sociodemographic background of individuals. By using reliable sociodemographic information, current survey data allow us to analyse questions relevant to the scope of this dissertation.

These advantages have opened an opportunity to study rare cases. For example, study II examines a blind spot in the literature: the social capital of mixed-union children. When I compared the size and gender composition of mixed unions for specific age groups in the sample with population registers, I found the percentage of mixed unions in the sample and the population matches perfectly.

Like other cohort studies, the data design does not include an objective of making generalisations beyond the cohort. This may narrow interpretations across the studies. For example, study IV found that young people who explicitly identify as immigrants suffer from stigma and experience higher rates of depression and unemployment than most young people of immigrant origin. The results may underestimate the harmful effect of stigma on the general population. When young people get older and enter the labour market, they may have first-hand experience of adverse conditions. For instance, young people may feel more "immigrant" when they face stigmatisation and discrimination in the labour market (see study IV). Many young people with immigrant backgrounds may find themselves in

situations which suggest to them that Sweden is not their home or that they are different, or even the other.

Similar situations can also be found studying different immigrant groups. Regarding the extreme diversity of so-called "immigrants" in Sweden. In practice, it is hard to collect data on social networks and social capital for all immigrant groups, nor do I think it is necessary. My interpretation is limited to certain immigrant groups because the sample focuses on two specific groups in Sweden. Both of these have long experiences in Sweden and generally come from different social backgrounds: Iranians are generally from the middle class, while former Yugoslavians are often represented in working-class occupations. This contrast may help us to grasp some degree of diversity among people of immigrants such as Syrians and Somalis. Nevertheless, lack of data does not prevent us from suggesting certain implications about people with different immigrant origins (see discussion in study IV).

Name Generator and Position Generator Methodology

Name Generator Methodology

I make use of the name generator methodology for study III. The general purpose of the methodology is to examine personal (or egocentric) networks. In using this instrument, the focal actor (ego) is asked the following question in order to create a list of friends (alters): Who are the five persons whom you meet and hang around with most often in your leisure time?. The answers are anonymised, i.e. we ask for only the first names or nicknames of friends. Follow-up questions elicit more information on alters' attributes, including sociodemographic background (age, gender, country of origin), and characteristics. One question elicits the existence of a relationship between alters: "do they know each other?" with yes and no answers permitted. A follow-up question asks, "how well do they know each other?" with three response categories: not so well, fairly well, very well. If individuals answer "no" to the first question or "not-so-well" on the second question, they are coded as an open triad, indicating brokerage. If individuals answer, "yes" on the first question and "fairly well" or "very well" on the second question, they are coded as a closed triad, indicating closure. Regarding ethnic diversity, I focus on the most open network (cross-ethnic brokerage), and the most closed (closure within ethnically similar groups). More details are provided in study III.

The name generator methodology is used to describe personal network structures. By using the methodology, I got a chance to classify triads allowing us to understand varying ways of social interaction at the micro level. As mentioned above, studying brokerage and closure are two ends of this spectrum. One represents the most open network characteristic and the other the most closed network characteristic. The name generator is flexible enough to go deeper in friendship networks. In study III, rather than focusing only on network structures, I reclassify two network structures by using ethnic backgrounds of actors. While it is a computationally demanding task, it gives us the chance to grasp the asymmetry in social relations. As demonstrated in Table 2 in study III, young people with immigrant origin are part of ethnically heterogonous networks while networks of young people with native-born parents are much more homogenous. And only 15 percent of young people aged 23 are part of cross-ethnic brokerage. These findings allow us to understand the diversity of young people's personal networks.

Also, in study IV, name generator methodology helps us to explore social aspects of identity. Young people explore, define and develop their sense of self as they interact with others. The name generator allows me to identify not only who the friends are, but also the employment status of friends. In other words, the name generator helps me to go deeper into social exclusion rather than relying only on the individual's own unemployment. At a micro level, an unemployed friend may negatively influence an individual's own chance to succeed in the labour market, or it may lessen the psychological suffering from the stigma of "unemployed" to know that one is not alone. Although I did not identify lists of mechanisms about unemployed friends, I use the name generator to grasp social exclusion among identity types. This information matters particularly in the early twenties when young people begin to explore job opportunities and who they are.

Position Generator Methodology

N. Lin and Dumin (1986) devised the position generator methodology to measure social capital. This methodology is used in the *Swedish Social Capital and Labour Market Integration* survey and asks if a respondent knows people from a list of forty different occupations representing the full range of socioeconomic occupational statuses according to the Swedish SEI-code (SCB, 2015). The position generator is increasingly popular in the social capital literature (Hällsten, Edling, & Rydgren, 2015; N. Lin & Erickson, 2008; van Tubergen, 2014). In study II, I use this instrument to examine the social capital of the children of mixed-union parents. In study IV, I also use social capital as one of the indicators to measure advantage.

The position generator has several advantages. It is a simple and concrete instrument that precisely measures the three dimensions of social capital: sources (family, kin, acquaintances, transnational ties, ties in Sweden), and receivers (young people from mixed unions, immigrant parents and Swedish-born parents) and resources (influences, assistance and information from different occupational positions in the socioeconomic hierarchy). The position generator is also contentfree. One can use it to investigate the role of social capital in general for a variety of research questions, e.g. finding a job, school performance and maintaining health and a good diet.⁹ The instrument is also practical, and has a high response rate, efficiency (it does not take much time to collect data) and is unbiased to strong ties (Verhaeghe & Li, 2015). These properties are particularly desirable for researchers who aim to apply social capital theory to different outcomes.

The position generator has limitations, as well. The instrument concerns universal claims, that is, one that works well across the world. This hides specific contexts. For example, it is limited when it comes to gender dynamics in the labour market. Few studies go further on gendered social capital via the position generator methodology. For example, Erickson (2003) measures social capital separately for men and women in her research in Canada. In Sweden, as in many other industrialised countries, occupations are not gender-neutral. Some are female-dominated, some are male-dominated, others are neutral (Hultin, 2003). In this dissertation, I find a similar pattern with the occupations is grouped across class (these results are available upon request).¹⁰ The nature of gender and sex segregation in a labour market may vary depending on the country context. To go

⁹ The content-free nature of the position generator has pros and cons. As mentioned, it enables the position generator to be used for general purposes. Its alternatives, such as the resource generator, capture specifics of different domains (Van Der Gaag & Snijders, 2005). Accordingly, social capital in one domain does not have similar meanings and practice in another domain. In many cases, the resource generator is a reasonable option. In the labour market, for instance, social capital may operate quickly. Giving job referrals does not take much time. In the health domain, sources and receivers may interact on a regular basis (e.g. frequent telephone calls, monitoring health reports). In education, relations may be more authoritative. If one needs quick and dirty tips for their children's education, a teacher or academic may give rule-like suggestions, offering a list of dos and don'ts. However, this does not eliminate the value of the position generator and name generator – Van Der Gaag, Snijders, and Flap (2008) find that the first and second are correlated, but the second and third are not. In other words, measuring social capital with resource generator and position generator provide similar results.

¹⁰ This limitation of the position generator can open up further research questions. We know less about the role of this macro-process (sex segregation in the labour market) on generating social capital, and its return to life chances for women and men across different age groups. In Lin's social capital theory, homophily operates across socioeconomic dimensions. It may also occur across gender lines. For example, a man or woman may interact more with other women or men who work in occupations with different sex compositions. The variety of social interactions between the gender of the receiver and sex segregation of the sources may provide information, norms or beliefs about the labour market that reinforce gender inequality. As such, young women may receive biased or distorted information about possible choices, such as the school programmes one may or should choose, or which occupation is the "best" option. Further discussion is beyond the scope of this text, however I suggest that further research on this topic can greatly expand our understanding of access, mobilisation, and return of social capital.

deeper into the specific domains in a certain country, one can use the resource generator as an alternative measure.

It is common practice to use occupational prestige scores to measure social capital. This may be hard to interpret. To measure something, we need a simple measure which can tell us concrete stories. I prefer to use the number of occupations (or network size) for several reasons.¹¹ Studies find that the number of occupations provides more reliable results than the prestige scores (Verhaeghe & Li, 2015). Although the prestige score shows diversity and hierarchy in the labour market, it does not take account of social stratification. Class-based social capital¹² classifies occupations with similar class positions. To do so, I survey the number of occupations (Bourdieu, 1986). Using class-based measures and network size makes interpretation easier than using prestige scores.

Modelling

Throughout this dissertation, I used nonlinear regression models like poisson, multinomial and logistic regressions. Each model is part of a unified approach, a generalised linear model (GLM), first introduced by Nelder and Wedderburn (1972).

GLM is used for exponential family distributions, i.e. an outcome variable can be transformable by taking its exponents. I describe the formal structure of GLM by using a binary response variable.

The general formula for regression equations is:

 $Y = \alpha + \beta_1 X_1 + \beta_1 X_2 + \beta_2 X_3 + \beta_3 X_4.$

The mean of expected value of the response is: $E(y) = \beta_1 1 + \beta_2 x_2 + \beta_2 x_2 + \dots + \beta_k x_k, \eta = \beta_1 1 + \beta_2 x_2 + \beta_2 x_2 + \dots + \beta_k x_k.$

This represents the linear combinations of explanatory variables. When we create a binary model by using ordinary least square estimation, the fitted values can yield values below zero and above 1, which violates the expected range of values for binary outcomes.

¹¹ As with cultural capital, I have created two measures: the quality and quantity aspects of capital. Both are count measures (number of occupations). The quantity aspect refers to the number of occupations one can access in general (aka extensity). Quality refers to the number of occupations at the top of the labour market (aka reachability).

¹² I have adapted class-based social capital measure from Verhaeghe and Li (2015); Verhaeghe, Li, and Van de Putte (2013).

In the standard linear model $E(y) = \eta$; in GLM, we use link functions g(.) between η and E(y), that is $g(E(y)) = \eta$. For the standard linear model, the link function is identity function g(y) = y. When the response variables is binary E(y) = P(y = 1), $E(y) = g^{-1}(\eta)$. By using link functions, the model transforms fitted values into the linear form. In this case, the link function is logit $(g(x) = \log x/(1 - x))$.

To estimate the response variable, we plug the values inverse of the logit and get:

$$E(y) = P(y = 1) = \frac{e^{\eta}}{1 + e^{\eta}}.$$

If we do one more operation, we get the logistic function:

 $\frac{e^{\beta_1 1 + \beta_2 x_2 + \beta_2 x_2 + \dots + \beta_k x_k}}{1 + e^{\beta_1 1 + \beta_2 x_2 + \beta_2 x_2 + \dots + \beta_k x_k}}.$

As the shape of function is an S-shaped curve, it helps to get the fitted values between 0 and 1.

By using maximum likelihood estimation, GLM does not need to meet strong assumption of ordinary least square estimates (OLS). OLS assumptions come from Gauss-Markov theory: i) linear relationship between outcome variable and each explanatory variable; ii) residuals are independent and normally distributed with mean zero and constant variance; and iii) lack of correlation between variables and disturbances. If these assumptions are met, OLS produces unbiased and efficient estimates.

In social science, these assumptions are often difficult to satisfy. The violation of normality of error (ii) is not a problem because for a larger sample size it approximates to normal distribution (according to the central limit theorem). The real problem lies in the linearity assumption (i). For limited dependent variables, e.g. truncated, count, highly skewed distributions, it is difficult to meet the criteria. Furthermore, OLS is a descriptive method. It is nothing more than drawing a line on a scatter plot. One can draw this line minimising the square error, such as using different distance measures. When it comes to the assumptions, they are not always scientifically desirable. For example, one can get an unbiased estimate for a regression coefficient, yet the same estimate may be unreliable if it is not consistent.

Maximum likelihood estimation (MLE) has certain attractive asymptotic properties.¹³ For example, when the distribution of dependent variables is wrong

¹³ MLE is based on theory of inferences. The term "likelihood function" is a relative measure of uncertainty. That is, each model has a certain likelihood function, and there is no one true model. Rather, estimates in a certain model specification may be preferable depending on fitness and parsimony. The estimates in MLE are the "highest relative likelihood having generated the data we observed".

or unknown, some MLE may still provide robust inferences. As the estimates are consistent, they are concentrated around certain values, making them more reliable. MLE does not need a certain sampling plan, making it possible to combine datasets, collected at different times and by different researchers (King, 1998). Estimates are asymptotically normal, which makes them useful for hypothesis testing. By using likelihood ratio, Wald test and precision methods in MLE, one can assess how good the estimate is (Gill, 2000; King, 1998).

I have experimented with different modelling techniques throughout this dissertation. Some have worked, others failed. One failure, in particular, was instrumental in helping me to move forward in the research process. In study III, I used latent class models to find the omnivore-univore distinction by using eight polychromous dependent variables. In the application, problems arose in selecting the number of clusters. To choose the number of clusters, the rule of thumb is to select the cluster for which both the Akaike information criterion (AIC) and the Bayesian information criterion (BIC) are smaller.

It is important to know where this rule of thumb comes from. AIC and BIC are information criteria which penalise different likelihood estimations.

$$AIC = G^2 - 2df$$
[1]

$$BIC = G^2 - df * [\ln N]$$
^[2]

where the likelihood ratio chi-square test, G^2 , is given by

$$G^{2} = 2\sum_{ijkl} F_{ijkl} \ln \left(\frac{F_{ijkl}}{f_{ijkl}}\right)$$
[3]

The selection criteria do not have the same target models (Burnham & Anderson, 2004). Two information criteria may suffer from different types of misclassification errors for using different penalty functions. AIC is more likely to choose unnecessarily complex models even when the model is simple. In other words, AIC may overfit when the model gets a little more complex. When the model is complex, BIC tends to choose overly simplistic models. This is why BIC may underfit (see the simulation study in (T. H. Lin & Dayton, 1997). When I compared AIC and BIC for non-nested models, AIC and BIC did not show a clear pattern. As Table 1 suggests, the AIC decreases steadily, and BIC goes up and down.

Table 1 Goodness of fit statistics for the selection of the model for the latent class analysis in study III
--

Number of clusters	AIC	BIC	Chi-Square
1	19585.104	19641.49	1478.036
2	18995.810	19181.88	1239.173
3	18805.116	19120.88	504.7238
4	18734.604	19180.06	435.5311

I then had two options: either to work further on modelling (e.g. choosing different information criteria which may perform better for the properties of the model, or calculating misclassification ratios (e.g. (Chan & Goldthorpe, 2007)), or simply to try something new. I realised that some applications of latent class analysis (LCA) aim to find omnivorousness as a singular category, and I too was doing this. Instead, I moved towards a simpler and more theory-driven index construction for omnivorousness, for quality (composition) and quantity (volume) (see Warde & Gayo-Cal, 2009; Warde et al., 2007). The process was educational and enabled me to re-examine my assumptions.

In study I, I have also benefited from qualitative comparative analysis (QCA).¹⁴ At the outset, I did not have a particular idea about experimentations. This came later when thinking over configurations.¹⁵ After reading Ragin's (2008) work, I created configurations, like truth tables, in QCA. For three conditions, there are 2³ configurations¹⁶ which are intersections of sets from variables. When creating configurations, I began thinking about refining the concept of aspirations based on the context. That is, young people do not only aspire to reach university directly, some also have multiple plans that may be due to experimentation in the early twenties. Before reaching these stages, I conducted several preliminary analyses omitted from the final paper, including more QCA.¹⁷ QCA helped me to refine the concept from context and generate new questions.

¹⁴ The approach was developed by Charles Ragin and is often used in comparative-historical studies and political sociology. Most studies focus on small-*n*. The number of studies using large-*n* has increased in the past decade (Longest & Thoits, 2012; Stephen, 2014).

¹⁵ The use of methods like GLM often dictates certain ways of thinking, with independent individuals and variables. If one wants to examine dependences among cases, a two-way interaction is often used. QCA allows us to study complex configurations and intersections of cases.

¹⁶ The configurations are crisp sets (exist or not exist) rather than fuzzy cases with degrees of membership (continuous measure).

¹⁷ A truth table is simply a list of configurations (logical combinations of causal conditions) and associated outcomes (Ragin, 2008). The idea of a truth table is based on "equifinality", i.e. the combination of causes that can create the same outcome. Using Boolean minimisation as a numeric technique, QCA (two versions: crisp set and fuzzy set theory) eliminate certain configurations to get causal recipes, including the most parsimonious, intermediate and more complex solutions.

Conclusion

The underlying assumption of this dissertation is that in comparison to their peers with native-born parents, most young people of immigrant origin in Sweden strive against adverse conditions to a greater or lesser degree.

The results of study I show that young people of immigrant origin often have higher educational aspirations even when educational performance lags behind that of natives. This is in line with previous studies (Goldsmith, 2004; Jonsson & Rudolphi, 2011; Kao & Tienda, 2005; Salikutluk, 2016). These young people aim high in education and wish to enter professional occupations (e.g. doctor, engineer), suggesting that they are determined to succeed, contribute to society, and become competent in the key skills needed in the knowledge economy. However, as some studies point out, psychological problems arise when high aspirations are not accompanied by high educational achievement (Miething et al., 2017): distress, frustration and status anxiety (Reynolds & Baird, 2010). The study also shows that young people of immigrant origin forgo experimentation while aiming high and have no tolerance for delaying their entry to university. On the one hand this could turn out to be a strategic move to get a head start in adult life, but on the other hand this may deprive them of some of the joys and freedoms of being young. While some young people may end up drifting and feeling lost, for most experimentation is one of the key ways to cultivate skills and self-exploration at this age (Arnett, 2000, 2006).

In Sweden, employment opportunities for people with only compulsory education or less are among the lowest in the OECD (alongside with Norway and Switzerland) (OECD., 2016). Competition is also high among highly-educated people during periods of unemployment. Many unemployed young people have to take up jobs requiring lower levels of education compared to their actual qualifications (Åberg, 2001). Studies suggest that informal methods of finding a job – knowing influential people in the immediate social circle or acquaintances – play no less a role than formal methods of finding a job, e.g. submitting a curriculum vitae (Behtoui, 2008; Ekström, 2001; Korpi, 2001; Okeke, 2001). In addition to knowing influential people, the extent to which people engage in informal relations matter. As such, mutual interests, e.g. running marathons or travelling, may create emotional ties, which in turn stimulate a positive evaluation of a job application (Rivera, 2015). It may not be the person with the highest degree at the lowest possible age who gets the job, but the person who has been volunteering in a refugee camp or running marathons – not because these experiences are relevant for the work in question, but because they send signals about the personality that align with societal ideals about independence, creativity and self-exploration. Thus, young people with "only" an academic degree may be disadvantaged in the informal aspects of the recruitment process.

At the same time, most young people of immigrant origin access social capital at least as much as young people with Swedish-born parents. Study II suggests that children of two immigrant parents, whether of Yugoslavian or Iranian background, access greater social capital than children of Swedish-born parents even when they come from the same socioeconomic background. This is counterintuitive; indeed, most studies claim the opposite (e.g. (Li, Savage, & Warde, 2008)), however, I am not the first to make this claim (see (A. Andersson, Edling, & Rydgren, 2017; Verhaeghe, Van der Bracht, & Van de Putte, 2015). The social capital of young people with two immigrant parents is higher than that of young people with Swedish-born parents because they can access ethnically homogenous social capital. Young people with two immigrant parents access more in-family, kinbased social capital as well as greater social capital through transnational ties. Therefore, as young people of immigrant origin are determined to succeed and are not deficient in social capital, both study I and study IV contradict stereotypical beliefs that young people of immigrant origin are, for example, "unwilling to integrate" and "necessarily disadvantaged".

However, study II also suggests that generating social capital is not always a smooth process. Children of Yugoslavian-Swedish unions access a similar volume of social capital as young people with two Swedish-born parents but the lowest family-based social capital. Children of mixed unions suffer from loss of ethnic capital, possibly due to sanctions applied by family members and extended kin networks (see Cheng and Powell (2007)). Mixed-union children may be no longer seen to be like "them" and risk exclusion from family gatherings or the support of extended family networks. Family networks are crucial to provide emotional support and share experiences on how to cope with problems. The same group compensates for exclusion from family-based ties by accessing greater resources via transnational ties. As the example of mixed unions suggests, the dynamics around generating social capital via different sources can vary.

Study IV suggests that having an identity, even a stigmatised one, prevents people from falling into the most disadvantaged positions. The study finds that the most disadvantaged group in terms of social capital comprises those who do not have an explicit sense of self. The results support previous research which show that viewing oneself as part of an in-group of stigmatised others does not necessarily make people passive victims unless they view themselves through the lens of

negative stereotypes (Crocker, Major, & Steele, 1998; Major & O'Brien, 2005; Verkuyten, 2004). Study IV indicates that young people with immigrant identity do not internalise all the negative attributes linked with the label, despite the negative image of *invandrare* in Sweden. In fact, young people with immigrant identity maintain a certain level of self-confidence and access social capital no less than native-born children. In other words, people who view themselves as immigrants are neither isolated nor helpless. However, these results only depict "average" people with immigrant identity. Because the study is exploratory and based on quantitative evidence, it cannot provide evidence on how young people with immigrant identity give meaning to "immigrant" and respond to "being an immigrant" in Sweden. Some may subscribe to an immigrant identity to express opposition to the negative attributes ascribed to them, and seek to replace them with positive ones (e.g. creative, warm); others may view "being an immigrant" as a temporary status that will disappear when they move to favourable conditions. In general terms, however, it is clear that the immigrant identity does not prevent people from resisting adverse conditions including discrimination, status loss, labour market exclusion and marginalisation.

Indeed, having an explicit identity, even as part of the stigmatised other, protects people's sense of worth and empowers them to cope with potential problems. Nevertheless, this does not sufficiently prevent young people with immigrant identity from experiencing certain disadvantages. They remain at high risk of unemployment, twice that of their native-born counterparts. This disadvantage is mostly created by stigma, along with parental socio economic disadvantage. Among young people of similar socioeconomic background, those with immigrant identity have lower subjective well-being (around 75 percent) than those of immigrant origin. While the current study does not make causal claims, the results support previous studies on the negative consequences of stigma on subjective well-being (Kamberi et al., 2015; Verkuyten, 2008). "Being an immigrant" takes a toll on health (e.g. greater risk of depression) among people who explicitly view themselves as "immigrants" compared to others of immigrant origin.

Three of the four studies in the dissertation cover young people with parents born in former Yugoslavia and Iran. Studying these two groups already shows the diversity of people of immigrant origin. Iranians are often represented in the middle class, Yugoslavians in the working class. Like other groups, e.g. Turkish, these two groups began to arrive in Sweden at least three decades ago but for different reasons and at slightly different times. Compared to recent immigrants, having lived a longer period in Sweden may have helped Iranians and Yugoslavians to develop or adapt strategies against stigma and discrimination. As the studies are based on certain immigrant groups with distinct immigration histories, the results are not generalisable to all immigrants in Sweden. Nevertheless, by studying the determinants of life chances among earlier groups of immigrants, it is possible to gain some understanding of the factors that affect the life chances of newly arrived refugees and economic migrants. Those who moved to Sweden from Eastern European countries find fewer employment chances even when they have the same levels of education as natives. The situation is even worse for those of non-Western origin as they often find themselves in a marginal position in the labour market (Bevelander & Irastorza, 2014). This is partly because a sizeable share of the non-Western immigrant population is less educated than Swedes. For example, 39 percent of Syrians have primary education or less. Hence, they either end up working in low-skilled, low-paid jobs, or remain unemployed. This is why human capital formation is crucial for this group (see more in the recent review Sandberg (2017)). To survive economically, meet basic needs, and feel respected within society, these groups needs state support to improve their education and working skills.

This is because human capital formation is an essential yet insufficient solution. As argued in this dissertation, accessing greater social and cultural capital helps immigrants cope with the negative image of being an immigrant, which co-occurs with unequal treatment such as exclusion and rejection in the labour market. As many immigrants of non-Western origin are in marginal positions in the labour market, they are also less likely to generate sufficient social capital in Sweden, which is a scarce resource that is mostly accessed by people in higher socioeconomic positions (Bourdieu, 1986; N. Lin, 2002; Portes, 2000). As a result, transnational ties and ethnic networks become crucial in giving support and assistance. The same groups are more likely to suffer from the stigma of being immigrants, particularly those with visible markers such as skin colour or religious symbols. Additionally, many leave behind home countries where human tragedies continue, like Syria. Generally speaking, the refugees who feel marginalised at home and in the destination country are the ones who experience the most stress (Berry, 1997, 2005; Phinney, Horenczyk, Liebkind, & Vedder, 2001; Rumbaut, 1994). To cope with this stress and reduce stigma, having an explicit and salient identity helps them to maintain self-esteem and feel part of social circles. Therefore, newly-arrived immigrants, particularly those of non-Western origin, are less likely to break the vicious cycle of disadvantage. From the labour market perspective, limited human capital is the core of this problem, but it is not the whole solution. In addition, the greater risk of suffering from stigma and limited social capital makes it more difficult to overcome disadvantages.

The findings of study II and study III both underline the limitations of one-sizefits-all approaches in social integration. Conventional assimilation focuses on social integration as a one-way street: convergence into the native-born over time, or melting down into a similarity (Alba & Foner, 2015; Gordon, 1964; Park, 1928). Social integration is a complex issue.

As mentioned above, study II does not support the idea that mixed unions presuppose social integration. I have examined social integration as a multidirectional process rather than a unilinear process. Being part of multiple social circles allows us to understand access to social capital among young people of immigrant origin. Some children from mixed unions may end up more advantaged than native-born children while others are deprived of the same resources. Young people from mixed unions access social capital differently, depending on the country of origin of the foreign-born parent. The migration background of the foreign-born parent influences whether children from mixed unions have greater or lesser access to social capital, and whether this access is through few or many sources. Fitting all mixed-union children into the same model may hide who accesses greater or lesser resources. Thus, "thicker descriptions" of the mixed union context are required. It is because mixed unions are formed within a constellation of ethnic, religious and language differences that makes them difficult to express as a homogenous category (see similar emphasis in (Collet, 2015; Rodríguez-García, 2006). As Tolstoy writes, "All happy families are alike; each unhappy family is unhappy in its own way." All mixed unions are alike as ethnically dissimilar parties overcome potential barriers, such as family/kinship pressure, and each mixed union experiences mixedness in its own way.

Likewise, study III shows the limitations of another sweeping generalisation about cultural omnivores. It does not support the hypothesis that omnivorousness is a form of cultural capital. Arriving at a different result from prior research underscores the complexity of social integration. Some sociologists completely discard the role of attitudes, and suggest we prioritise actions and behaviours (Jerolmack & Khan, 2014). I partly agree with the idea. I think attitudes capture the social cognition process, i.e. what one believes about ethnic hierarchies. I also agree with focusing on an action frame – what do people actually do? What are the motives behind those actions? The term "tolerance", for example, is problematic in the sense that it is neither a neutral nor an equal term. The majority often tolerates "the other" or "outsiders". One may be tolerant and simultaneously exclude people from other ethnic backgrounds. An example comes from ethnically mixed schools in London. Reay et al. (2007) and her colleagues have examined why some middle-class parents send their children to ethnically mixed schools and found that parents are instrumental in cultivating cosmopolitanism among their offspring while enjoying the privileges of being white. In other words, one may be "tolerant", yet maintain and legitimise exclusive relations.

These four studies also open up new avenues for research which may further enrich our understanding of how people of immigrant origin "get by" within host societies. More research is needed to keep track of educational aspirations over time. As young people of immigrant origin have higher educational aspirations, our first question is: are aspirations stable over time? High aspirations may decline when young people have first-hand experience of adverse conditions, such as rejection of job applications due to a foreign-sounding name, accent, or dress style. The lowering of educational aspirations due to such reasons is termed "lost talent" (Hanson, 1994). Some studies in Sweden reported that young people of immigrant origin end up at lower positions in the labour market than they would had they not been of immigrant origin (e.g. Westin (2003)). While studies describe processes like school dropout, less is known on who the potential "lost talents" among young people of immigrant origin are. For this reason, keeping track of educational aspirations with longitudinal studies allows us to ask a second question: when young people experience sharp decline from high to low aspirations, what happens to their subjective well-being? In these situations, I would expect feelings of frustration and deprivation, and even a decrease in well-being.

One could go further and link these questions to certain "hot topics". As such, a third question might be: do young people find themselves marginalised due to the sharp decline in aspirations? An extreme manifestation of this is described by Gambetta and Hertog (2016) who found that engineers in Middle Eastern countries, who did well in mathematics and science, are more represented in terror organisations. One of the reasons is that these engineers feel more deprivation: they do not reach the status that they believe they can reach. More questions and speculations are possible about keeping track of aspirations over time, and the consequences of their sharp decline. Further research is needed to answer these questions.

Study IV on immigrant identity opens up another set of questions for future research. The survey design has its limits in digging down to processes of selfidentification and stigmatisation. Previous studies using survey methods often examine self-identification through an exhaustive list of social categories which gives less room for people to define themselves. In using survey methods in study IV, I deliberately moved towards the other direction, using a non-response analysis which allowed me to investigate a less-studied research subject: people with no explicit identity. Study IV shows that such people are at the greatest risk of depression and access the lowest social capital among people of immigrant origin. The results help us ask further questions: Under which conditions do people not identify themselves with existing social categories? Do people with no explicit sense of self suffer exclusion from both in-group members (people of immigrant origin) and out-group members (the ethnic majority)? Do they experience confusion about their sense of self, which may occur due to developmental processes during late adolescence? Once again, future research may pick up one of these questions for further investigation.

The results of this dissertation have implications for policy. Study IV suggests that using a single label "immigrant" for an extremely diverse group with negative attributes is a social problem. When people internalise the stigmatising label "immigrant" as a part of self, their well-being and sense of worth are harmed, which makes them more disadvantaged than other people of immigrant origin. While the same group of people shows signs of resistance against adverse conditions, the results show that the extent to which people are classified and ranked as fuzzy categories, like immigrant versus Swede, makes life more difficult for Swedes of immigrant origin. Radical right-wing parties in Western countries often racialise such people through frames such as "immigrants harm our values", or "immigrants are less willing to integrate". Arguing against these frames by using the word "immigrant", intentionally or unintentionally as a homogenous and unchanging social category, legitimises the credibility of their arguments. To struggle against anti-immigrant sentiments, deliberate strategies are needed to restore the image of immigrants, and employ sensitive language and communication in everyday life, including at school, in the labour market and in media.

References

- Åberg, R. (2001). *Skill–education mismatch and employment possibilities for the less educated.* Paper presented at the Paper presented at the Euresco conference Labour Market Change and Citizenship in Europe, Helsinki, April, 20-25, 2001.
- Alba, R. (1990). *Ethnic Identity: The Transformation of White America*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Alba, R., & Foner, N. (2015). Mixed Unions and Immigrant-Group Integration in North America and Western Europe. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 662, 38-56. doi:10.1177/0002716215594611
- Alba, R., & Nee, V. (2003). *Remaking the American Mainstream*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- Alba, R., Sloan, J., & Sperling, J. (2011). The Integration Imperative: The Children of Low-Status Immigrants in the Schools of Wealthy Societies. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 37(1), 395-415. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-081309-150219
- Aldén, L., Hammarstedt, M., & Neuman, E. (2015). Ethnic segregation, tipping behavior, and native residential mobility. *International Migration Review*, 49, 36-69. doi:10.1111/imre.12066
- Andersson, A., Edling, C., & Rydgren, J. (2017). The intersection of class origin and immigration background in structuring social capital: the role of transnational ties. *The British Journal of Sociology*, n/a-n/a. doi:10.1111/1468-4446.12289
- Andersson, E., & Malmberg, B. (2018). Segregation and the effects of adolescent residential context on poverty risks and early income career: A study of the Swedish 1980 cohort. Urban Studies, 55(2), 365-383. doi:10.1177/0042098016643915
- Anikin, V., Lezhnina, Y., Mareeva, S., & Tikhonova, N. (2017). Social Stratification by Life Chances: Evidence from Russia. (Paper No. WP BRP 80/SOC/2017). Higher School of Economics Research.
- Arnett, J. J. (2000). Emerging adulthood: A theory of development from the late teens through the twenties. *American Psychologist*, 55, 469-480. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.55.5.469
- Arnett, J. J. (2006). Emerging Adulthood in Europe: A Response to Bynner. Journal of Youth Studies, 9(1), 111-123. doi:10.1080/13676260500523671

- Bassett, E., & Moore, S. (2013). Social capital and depressive symptoms: The association of psychosocial and network dimensions of social capital with depressive symptoms in Montreal, Canada. *Social science & medicine,* 86(Supplement C), 96-102. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.03.005
- Bauman, Z. (2000). Liquid Modernity. UK: Cambridge: Polity Press
- Bech, E. C., Borevi, K., & Mouritsen, P. (2017). A 'civic turn' in Scandinavian family migration policies? Comparing Denmark, Norway and Sweden. *Comparative Migration Studies*, 5(1), 7. doi:10.1186/s40878-016-0046-7
- Behtoui, A. (2008). Informal Recruitment Methods and Disadvantages of Immigrants in the Swedish Labour Market. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 34*, 411-430. doi:10.1080/13691830701880251
- Behtoui, A. (2017). Social capital and the educational expectations of young people. *European Educational Research Journal*, *16*(4), 487-503. doi:10.1177/1474904116682248
- Behtoui, A., Boréus, K., Neergaard, A., & Yazdanpanah, S. (2017). Speaking up, leaving or keeping silent: racialized employees in the Swedish elderly care sector. *Work, Employment and Society*, 31(6), 954-971. doi:10.1177/0950017016667042
- Berry, J. W. (1997). Immigration, acculturation, and adaptation. *Applied psychology*, *46*, 5-34. doi:10.1111/j.1464-0597.1997.tb01087.x
- Berry, J. W. (2005). Acculturation: Living successfully in two cultures. International journal of intercultural relations, 29(6), 697-712. doi:10.1016/j.ijintrel.2005.07.013.
- Bevelander, P., & Irastorza, N. (2014). *Catching Up: The Labor Market Integration of New Immigrants in Sweden*. Washington DC and Geneva: Migration Policy Institute and International Labour Organization.
- Billari, F. C. (2004). Becoming an Adult in Europe: A Macro(/Micro)-Demographic Perspective. *Demographic Research, S3*, 15-44. doi:10.4054/DemRes.2004.S3.2
- Billari, F. C., & Wilson, C. (2001). Convergence towards diversity? Cohort dynamics in the transition to adulthood in contemporary Western Europe. *Max Planck Institute for Demographic Research, Working Paper,MPIDR Working Papers*(WP-2001-039).
- Borevi, K. (2013). Understanding Swedish Multiculturalism. In P. Kivisto & O. Wahlbeck (Eds.), *Debating Multiculturalism in the Nordic Welfare States*. London: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Borevi, K. (2014). Multiculturalism and welfare state integration: Swedish model path dependency. *Identities: Global Studies in Culture and Power, 21*(6), 708-723 doi:10.1080/1070289x.2013.868351
- Bourdieu, P. (1984). *Distinction: A social critique of the judgement of taste:* Harvard University Press.

- Bourdieu, P. (1986). The Forms of Capital. In J. G. Richardson (Ed.), *Handbook* of Theory and Research for the Sociology of Education (pp. 78-92). Greenwood.
- Bourdieu, P., & Passeron, J.-C. (1990). *eproduction in Education, Society and Culture*: Sage Publications.
- Bredström, A. (2003). Gendered racism and the production of cultural difference: media representations and identity work among" immigrant youth" in contemporary Sweden. *Nora: Nordic Journal of Women's Studies, 11*, 78-88. doi:10.1080/08038740310002932
- Breen, R. (2009). A Weberian Approach To Class Analysis. In E. O. Wright (Ed.), *Approaches to Class Analysis* (pp. 31-50): Cambridge University Press.
- Brinbaum, Y., & Cebolla-Boado, H. (2007). The school careers of ethnic minority youth in France: Success or disillusion? *Ethnicities*, 7(3), 445-474. doi:10.1177/1468796807080237
- Brubaker, R., & Cooper, F. (2000). Beyond "Identity". *Theory and society, 29*(1), 1-47.
- Bryson, B. (1996). "Anything But Heavy Metal": Symbolic Exclusion and Musical Dislikes. American Sociological Review, 61, 884-899. doi:10.2307/2096459
- Buchmann, M. C., & Kriesi, I. (2011). Transition to Adulthood in Europe. Annual Review of Sociology, 37(1), 481-503. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-081309-150212
- Burke, P. J., & Stets, J. E. (1999). Trust and Commitment through Self-Verification. Social Psychology Quarterly, 62(4), 347-366. doi:10.2307/2695833
- Burnham, K. P., & Anderson, D. R. (2004). Multimodel Inference:Understanding AIC and BIC in Model Selection. *Sociological Methods & Research*, 33(2), 261-304. doi:10.1177/0049124104268644
- Burt, R. S. (2001). Structural Holes versus Network Closure as Social Capital. In R. S. Burt, K. Cook, & N. Lin (Eds.), *Social capital: Theory and research* (pp. 31-56): Aldine Transaction.
- Burt, R. S. (2009). *Structural holes: The social structure of competition*: Harvard University Press.
- Calhoun, C. (1993). Habitus, Field and Capital: The Questions of Historical Specificity. In E. Lipuma, M. Postone, & C. J. Calhoun (Eds.), *Bourdieu: critical perspectives* (pp. 61-88): University of Chicago Press.
- Carter, P. L. (2006). Straddling Boundaries: Identity, Culture, and School. Sociology of Education, 79, 304-328. doi:10.1177/003804070607900402
- Chaix, B., Rosvall, M., & Merlo, J. (2007). Recent Increase of Neighborhood Socioeconomic Effects on Ischemic Heart Disease Mortality: A Multilevel Survival Analysis of Two Large Swedish Cohorts. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 165(1), 22–26. doi:10.1093/aje/kwj322

- Chan, T. W. (2013). Understanding cultural omnivores: social and political attitudes. *Available in:* http://users.ox.ac.uk/~sfos0006/papers/att3.pdf.
- Chan, T. W., & Goldthorpe, J. H. (2007). Social Stratification and Cultural Consumption: Music in England. *European Sociological Review*, 23, 1-19. doi:10.1093/esr/jcl016
- Cheng, S., & Powell, B. (2007). Under and Beyond Constraints: Resource Allocation to Young Children from Biracial Families. *American Journal* of Sociology, 112(4), 1044-1094. doi:10.1086/508793
- Chort, I., Gubert, F., & Senne, J.-N. (2012). Migrant networks as a basis for social control: Remittance incentives among Senegalese in France and Italy. *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, 42(5), 858-874. doi:10.1016/j.regsciurbeco.2012.02.001
- Coleman, J. S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *American Journal of Sociology*, 94, S95-S120.
- Collet, B. (2012). Mixed couples in France. Statistical facts, definitions, and social reality. *Papers: revista de sociologia, 97*, 61-77.
- Collet, B. (2015). From Intermarriage to Conjugal Mixedness: Theoretical Considerations Illustrated by Empirical Data in France. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 662*, 129-147. doi:10.1177/0002716215595388
- Cook, T. D., & Furstenberg, F. F. (2002). Explaining aspects of the transition to adulthood in Italy, Sweden, Germany, and the United States: A crossdisciplinary, case synthesis approach. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 580*, 257-287. doi:10.1177/000271620258000111
- Crocker, J., Major, B., & Steele, C. (1998). Social Stigma. In D. T. Gilbert, S. T. Fiske, & G. Lindzey (Eds.), *Handbook of Social Psychology, Vol II* (pp. 504/508): McGRAW-HILL.
- Dimaggio, P. (1987). Classification in Art. *American Sociological Review*, 52, 440-455. doi:10.2307/2095290
- Downey, D. B., Ainsworth, J. W., & Qian, Z. (2009). Rethinking the Attitude-Achievement Paradox Among Blacks. *Sociology of Education*, *82*, 1-19. doi:10.1177%2F003804070908200101
- Dumais, S. A. (2002). Cultural Capital, Gender, and School Success: The Role of Habitus. *Sociology of Education*, 75(1), 44-68. doi:10.2307/3090253
- Edling, J. (2015). Förorterna som Moder Svea glömde: En dokumentation av en obefintlig integrationspolitik. from Verdandi ABF <u>http://www.verdandi.se/wp-</u> content/uploads/2015/11/Rapport_Fo%CC%88rorterna-som-Moder-Svea.pdf
- Ekström, E. (2001). *Employers' recruitment behavior (Arbetsgivarnas rekryteringsbeteende)*. Retrieved from Institute for Evaluation of Labour Market and Education Policy (Institutet för arbetsmarknads- och

utbildningspolitisk utvärdering, IFAU): https://www.ifau.se/globalassets/pdf/se/2001/fr01-3.pdf

- Elman, C., & O'Rand, A. M. (2007). The effects of social origins, life events, and institutional sorting on adults' school transitions. *Social Science Research*, 36(3), 1276-1299. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2006.11.001
- Elsrud, T., Lalander, P., & Staaf, A. (2017). Noise, voice and silencing during immigrant court-case performances in Swedish district courts. *Ethnicities*, 17(5), 667-687. doi:10.1177/1468796815588620
- Emilsson, H., Magnusson, K., Törngren, S. O., & Bevelander, P. (2014). The world's most open country: labour migration to Sweden after the 2008 law. Current Themes in IMER Research;15: Malmö Institute for Studies of Migration, Diversity and Welfare (MIM), Malmö University.
- Emirbayer, M., & Mische, A. (1998). What Is Agency? *American Journal of Sociology*, *103*(4), 962-1023. doi:10.1086/231294
- Erickson, B. H. (2003). The distribution of gendered social capital in Canada. InH. Flap & B. Völker (Eds.), *Creation and Returns of Social Capital* (pp. 27-50). Oxford: UK: Routledge.
- Feld, S. L. (1981). The focused organization of social ties. American Journal of Sociology, 1015-1035. doi:10.1086/227352
- Feliciano, C., & Lanuza, Y. R. (2016). The Immigrant Advantage in Adolescent Educational Expectations. *International Migration Review*, 50(3), 758-792. doi:10.1111/imre.12183
- Finney, N., & Simpson, L. (2009). 'Sleepwalking to segregation'?: challenging myths about race and migration: Policy Press.
- Fordham, S., & Ogbu, J. (1986). Black students' school success: Coping with the "burden of 'acting white'". *The Urban Review*, 18, 176-206. doi:10.1007/BF01112192
- Frändberg, L., & Vilhelmson, B. (2011). More or less travel: personal mobility trends in the Swedish population focusing gender and cohort. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 19, 1235-1244. doi:10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2011.06.004
- Frye, M. (2012). Bright Futures in Malawi's New Dawn: Educational Aspirations as Assertions of Identity. *American Journal of Sociology*, 117, 1565-1624. doi:10.1086/664542
- Fuhse, J. A. (2012). Embedding the stranger: Ethnic categories and cultural differences in social networks. *Journal of Intercultural Studies*, 33, 639-655. doi:10.1080/07256868.2012.735109
- Gambetta, D., & Hertog, S. (2016). *Engineers of Jihad*: Princeton University Press.
- Garip, F. (2008). Social capital and migration: How do similar resources lead to divergent outcomes? *Demography*, 45, 591-617. doi:10.1353/dem.0.0016
- Giddens, A. (1973). *The Class Structure of the Advanced Societies*. London: Hutchinson.

- Giddens, A. (1991). *Modernity and Self-identity: Self and Society in the Late Modern Age:* Stanford University Press.
- Gill, J. (2000). *Generalized Linear Models: A Unified Approach*: SAGE Publication.
- Goldsmith, P. A. (2004). Schools' Racial Mix, Students' Optimism, and the Black-White and Latino-White Achievement Gaps. *Sociology of Education*, 77, 121-147. doi:10.1177/003804070407700202
- Gordon, M. M. (1964). Assimilation in American life: The role of race, religion and national origins: Oxford University Press.
- Government Bill. (1975/76:26.). Om riktlinjer för invandrar- och minoritetspolitiken m.m (On guiding principles for the immigrant and minority policy, etc.]).
- Goyette, K., & Xie, Y. (1999). Educational expectations of Asian American youths: Determinants and ethnic differences. Sociology of Education, 72, 22-36. doi:10.2307/2673184
- Granovetter, M. S. (1973). The strength of weak ties. *American Journal of Sociology*, 78, 1360-1380. doi:10.1086/225469
- Gruner, S. (2010). 'The Others Don't Want ...'. Small-Scale Segregation: Hegemonic Public Discourses and Racial Boundaries in German Neighbourhoods. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 36(2), 275-292. doi:10.1080/13691830903387402
- Gustafsson, B., Katz, K., & Österberg, T. (2017). Residential Segregation from Generation to Generation: Intergenerational Association in Socio-Spatial Context Among Visible Minorities and the Majority Population in Metropolitan Sweden. *Population, Space and Place, 23*(4), 1544-8452. doi:10.1002/psp.2028
- Hällsten, M., Edling, C., & Rydgren, J. (2015). The effects of specific occupations in position generator measures of social capital. *Social Networks*, 40, 55-63. doi:10.1016/j.socnet.2014.06.002
- Hällsten, M., Edling, C., & Rydgren, J. (2016). Social capital, friendship networks, and youth unemployment. *Social Science Research*. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2016.06.017
- Hanson, S. L. (1994). Lost Talent: Unrealized Educational Aspirations and Expectations among U.S. Youths. Sociology of Education, 67, 159-183. doi:10.2307/2112789
- Hardway, C., & Fuligni, A. J. (2006). Dimensions of family connectedness among adolescents with Mexican, Chinese, and European backgrounds. *Developmental psychology*, 42(6), 1246-1258. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.42.6.1246
- Heath, A. F., Rothon, C., & Kilpi, E. (2008). The Second Generation in Western Europe: Education, Unemployment, and Occupational Attainment. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 34(1), 211-235. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.34.040507.134728

- Hermansen, A. S. (2017). Age at Arrival and Life Chances Among Childhood Immigrants. *Demography*, 54(1), 201-229. doi:10.1007/s13524-016-0535-1
- Herz, M., & Johansson, T. (2012). The experience of being stopped: Young immigrants, social exclusion and strategies. *Young*, 20, 157-176. doi:10.1177/110330881202000203
- Hitlin, S., & Johnson, M. K. (2015). Reconceptualizing Agency within the Life Course: The Power of Looking Ahead. *American Journal of Sociology*, 120(5), 1429-1472. doi:10.1086/681216
- Hogg, M. (2006). Social identity theory. In B. Peter J (Ed.), *Contemporary social psychological theorie* (pp. 111-136): Stanford University Press.
- Hultin, M. (2003). Some Take the Glass Escalator, Some Hit the Glass Ceiling?:Career Consequences of Occupational Sex Segregation. *Work and Occupations*, *30*(1), 30-61. doi:10.1177/0730888402239326
- Jenkins, R. (2004). Social Identity. London: Routledge.
- Jerolmack, C., & Khan, S. (2014). Talk Is Cheap:Ethnography and the Attitudinal Fallacy. *Sociological Methods & Research, 43*(2), 178-209. doi:10.1177/0049124114523396
- Jessop, B. (1993). Towards a Schumpeterian Workfare State? Preliminary Remarks on Post-Fordist Political Economy. *Studies in Political Economy*, 40(1), 7-39. doi:10.1080/19187033.1993.11675409
- Jonsson, J. O., & Rudolphi, F. (2011). Weak Performance—Strong Determination: School Achievement and Educational Choice among Children of Immigrants in Sweden. *European Sociological Review*, 27, 487-508. doi:10.1093/esr/jcq021
- Kalmijn, M. (2010). Consequences of racial intermarriage for children's social integration. *Sociological Perspectives*, *53*, 271-286.
- Kalmijn, M. (2015). The Children of Intermarriage in Four European Countries: Implications for School Achievement, Social Contacts, and Cultural Values. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 662, 246-265. doi:10.1177/0002716215595391
- Kao, G., & Tienda, M. (1998). Educational Aspirations of Minority Youth. American Journal of Education, 106, 349-384. doi:10.2307/1085583
- Kao, G., & Tienda, M. (2005). Optimism and achievement: The educational performance of immigrant youth. *The new immigration: An interdisciplinary reader*, 331-343.
- Kerckhoff, A. C. (1976). The Status Attainment Process: Socialization or Allocation?*. *Social Forces*, 55(2), 368-381. doi:10.1093/sf/55.2.368
- King, G. (1998). Unifying Political Methodology: The Likelihood Theory of Statistical Inference. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Korpi, T. (2001). Good Friends in Bad Times? Social Networks and Job Search among the Unemployed in Sweden. Acta Sociologica, 44, 157-170. doi:10.1177/000169930104400204

Korteweg, A., & Yurdakul, G. (2009). Islam, gender, and immigrant integration: boundary drawing in discourses on honour killing in the Netherlands and Germany. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 32(2), 218-238. doi:10.1080/01419870802065218

- Lamont, M. (1992). Money, Morals, and Manners: The Culture of the French and the American Upper-Middle Class University of Chicago Press.
- Lamont, M., & Lareau, A. (1988). Cultural Capital: Allusions, Gaps and Glissandos in Recent Theoretical Developments. *Sociological Theory*, *6*(2), 153-168. doi:10.2307/202113
- Lareau, A., & Weininger, E. B. (2003). Cultural capital in educational research: A critical assessment. *Theory and society*, *32*(5), 567-606. doi:10.1023/B:RYSO.0000004951.04408.b0
- Li, Y., Savage, M., & Warde, A. (2008). Social mobility and social capital in contemporary Britain. *The British Journal of Sociology*, 59, 391-411. doi:10.1111/j.1468-4446.2008.00200.x
- Lin, N. (1999). Building a network theory of social capital. *Connections, 22*, 28-51.
- Lin, N. (2002). Social Capital: A Theory of Social Structure and Action: Cambridge University Press.
- Lin, N., & Dumin, M. (1986). Access to occupations through social ties. *Social Networks*, *8*, 365-385. doi:10.1016/0378-8733(86)90003-1
- Lin, N., Ensel, W. M., & Vaughn, J. C. (1981). Social Resources and Strength of Ties: Structural Factors in Occupational Status Attainment. *American Sociological Review*, 46(4), 393-405. doi:10.2307/2095260
- Lin, N., & Erickson, B. H. (2008). Social Capital: An International Research Program: Oxford University Press.
- Lin, T. H., & Dayton, C. M. (1997). Model Selection Information Criteria for Non-Nested Latent Class Models. *Journal of Educational and Behavioral Statistics*, 22(3), 249-264. doi:10.3102/10769986022003249
- Lindley, A. (2009). The Early-Morning Phonecall: Remittances from a Refugee Diaspora Perspective. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, *35*(8), 1315-1334. doi:10.1080/13691830903123112
- Link, B. G., & Phelan, J. C. (2001). Conceptualizing stigma. Annual Review of Sociology, 27, 363-385. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.27.1.363
- Lizardo, O. (2006). How Cultural Tastes Shape Personal Networks. *American Sociological Review, 71*, 778-807. doi:10.1177/000312240607100504
- Longest, K. C., & Thoits, P. A. (2012). Gender, the Stress Process, and Health: A Configurational Approach. Society and Mental Health, 2(3), 187-206. doi:10.1177/2156869312451151
- Lopez-Gonzalez, L., Aravena, V. C., & Hummer, R. A. (2005). Immigrant Acculturation, Gender and Health Behavior: A Research Note. *Social Forces*, *84*, 581.

- López-Sintas, J., & Katz-Gerro, T. (2005). From exclusive to inclusive elitists and further: Twenty years of omnivorousness and cultural diversity in arts participation in the USA. *Poetics*, 33(5), 299-319. doi:10.1016/j.poetic.2005.10.004
- Lundahl, L., & Lindblad, M. (2018). Immigrant Student Achievement and Education Policy in Sweden. In L. Volante, D. Klinger, & O. Bilgili (Eds.), *Immigrant Student Achievement and Education Policy: Cross-Cultural Approaches* (pp. 69-85). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Major, B., & O'Brien, L. T. (2005). The social psychology of stigma. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.*, *56*, 393-421. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.56.091103.070137
- Massey, D. S., Gross, A. B., & Eggers, M. L. (1991). Segregation, the concentration of poverty, and the life chances of individuals. *Social Science Research*, 20(4), 397-420. doi:10.1016/0049-089X(91)90020-4
- Mcfarland, D., & Pals, H. (2005). Motives and Contexts of Identity Change: A Case for Network Effects. *Social Psychology Quarterly, 68*, 289-315. doi:10.1177/019027250506800401
- Mickelson, R. A. (1990). The Attitude-Achievement Paradox Among Black Adolescents. *Sociology of Education*, 63, 44-61. doi:10.2307/2112896
- Miething, A., Rostila, M., & Rydgren, J. (2017). Access to occupational networks and ethnic variation of depressive symptoms in young adults in Sweden. *Social science & medicine*, 190(Supplement C), 207-216. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.08.022
- Milesi, C. (2010). Do all roads lead to Rome? Effect of educational trajectories on educational transitions. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility*, 28, 23-44. doi:10.1016/j.rssm.2009.12.002
- Mollenhorst, G., Edling, C., & Rydgren, J. (2014). Psychological Well-Being and Brokerage in Friendship Networks of Young Swedes. *Social Indicators Research*, 1-21. doi:10.1007/s11205-014-0766-8
- Morgan, S. L. (1998). Adolescent educational expectations: rationalized, fantasized, or both? *Rationality and Society*, *10*, 131-162. doi:10.1177/104346398010002001
- Nannestad, P., Svendsen, G. L. H., & Svendsen, G. T. (2008). Bridge Over Troubled Water? Migration and Social Capital. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 34(4), 607-631. doi:10.1080/13691830801961621
- Nekby, L., & Rödin, M. (2010). Acculturation identity and employment among second and middle generation immigrants. *Journal of Economic Psychology*, 31(1), 35-50. doi:10.1016/j.joep.2009.09.001
- Nekby, L., Rödin, M., & Özcan, G. (2009). Acculturation Identity and Higher Education: Is There a Trade-off Between Ethnic Identity and Education? *The International Migration Review*, 43(4), 938-973. doi:10.1111/j.1747-7379.2009.00790.x

- Nelder, J. A., & Wedderburn, R. W. M. (1972). Generalized Linear Models. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, 135(3), 370-384. doi:10.1007/978-1-4612-4380-9_39
- OECD. (2016). Working Together: Skills and Labour Market Integration of Immigrants and their Children in Sweden. Paris: OECD Publishing,.
- Okeke, S. (2001). The Swedish Public Employment Services' Market Shares in 1999 and 2000 (Arbetsförmedlingens marknadsandelar 1999 och 2000). Solna: Arbetsförmedlingen.
- Owens, T. J., Robinson, D. T., & Smith-Lovin, L. (2010). Three Faces of Identity. *Annual Review of Sociology*, *36*, 477. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.34.040507.134725
- Park, R. E. (1928). Human Migration and the Marginal Man. American Journal of Sociology, 33(6), 881-893. doi:10.1086/214592
- Peterson, R. A., & Kern, R. M. (1996). Changing highbrow taste: From snob to omnivore. American Sociological Review, 61, 900-907. doi:10.2307/2096460
- Phinney, J. S., Horenczyk, G., Liebkind, K., & Vedder, P. (2001). Ethnic Identity, Immigration, and Well-Being: An Interactional Perspective. *Journal of Social Issues*, 57, 493-510. doi:10.1111/0022-4537.00225
- Portes, A. (2000). Social capital: Its origins and applications in modern sociology. *LESSER, Eric L. Knowledge and Social Capital. Boston: Butterworth-Heinemann*, 43-67.
- Portes, A. (2014). Downsides of social capital. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 111*, 18407-18408.
- Portes, A., & Rumbaut, R. G. (2001). *Legacies: The story of the immigrant second generation*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Portes, A., Vickstrom, E., Haller, W. J., & Aparicio, R. (2013). Dreaming in Spain: parental determinants of immigrant children's ambition. *Ethnic & Racial Studies, 36*, 557-589. doi:10.1080/01419870.2013.757339
- Putnam, R. (2007, 2007). *E Pluribus Unum: diversity and community in the twenty-first century*. Paper presented at the The 2006 Johan Skytte Prize lecture.
- Ragin, C. C. (2008). *Redesigning social inquiry: Fuzzy sets and beyond*: Wiley Online Library.
- Raleigh, E., & Kao, G. (2010). Do Immigrant Minority Parents Have More Consistent College Aspirations for Their Children?*. Social Science Quarterly, 91(4), 1083-1102. doi:10.1111/j.1540-6237.2010.00750.x
- Reay, D., Hollingworth, S., Williams, K., Crozier, G., Jamieson, F., James, D., & Beedell, P. (2007). A Darker Shade of Pale?' Whiteness, the Middle Classes and Multi-Ethnic Inner City Schooling. *Sociology*, 41, 1041-1060. doi:10.1177/0038038507082314
- Reynolds, J. R., & Baird, C. L. (2010). Is There a Downside to Shooting for the Stars?: Unrealized Educational Expectations and Symptoms of

Depression. *American Sociological Review*, *75*, 151-172. doi:10.1177/0003122409357064

- Rindfuss, R. R., Swicegood, C. G., & Rosenfeld, R. A. (1987). Disorder in the Life Course: How Common and Does It Matter? *American Sociological Review*, 52(6), 785-801. doi:10.2307/2095835
- Ritzman, R. L., & Tomaskovic-Devey, D. (1991). Life chances and support for equality and equity as normative and counternormative distribution rules. *Social Forces*, *70*(3), 745-763. doi:10.2307/2579752
- Rivera, L. A. (2015). Go with Your Gut: Emotion and Evaluation in Job Interviews. *American Journal of Sociology, 120*, 1339-1389. doi:10.1086/681214
- Rodríguez-García, D. (2006). Mixed Marriages and Transnational Families in the Intercultural Context: A Case Study of African–Spanish Couples in Catalonia. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, *32*, 403-433. doi:10.1080/13691830600555186
- Rodríguez-García, D. (2015). Intermarriage and Integration Revisited International Experiences and Cross-Disciplinary Approaches. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science, 662*, 8-36. doi:10.1177/0002716215601397
- Rumbaut, R. G. (1994). The Crucible within: Ethnic Identity, Self-Esteem, and Segmented Assimilation among Children of Immigrants. *International Migration Review*, 28, 748-794. doi:10.2307/2547157
- Sainsbury, D. (2006). Immigrants' social rights in comparative perspective: welfare regimes, forms in immigration and immigration policy regimes. *Journal of European Social Policy*, *16*(3), 229-244. doi:10.1177/0958928706065594
- Salikutluk, Z. (2013). Immigrants' Aspiration Paradox. Theoretical explanations and determinants of the aspiration gap between native and immigrant students. Working Papers Nr. 150. Mannheimer Zentrum für Europäische Sozialforschung (MZES).
- Salikutluk, Z. (2016). Why Do Immigrant Students Aim High? Explaining the Aspiration–Achievement Paradox of Immigrants in Germany. *European Sociological Review*, *32*, 581-592. doi:10.1093/esr/jcw004
- Sandberg, J. (2017). Beyond Granted Asylum—Labor Market Integration Challenges in Sweden. *SAIS Review of International Affairs 37*(2), 15-23. doi:10.1353/sais.2017.0023
- Sanders, J. M., & Nee, V. (1987). Limits of Ethnic Solidarity in the Enclave Economy. American Sociological Review, 52(6), 745-773. doi:10.2307/2095833
- SCB. (2015). Statistics Sweden. Retrieved 2015 <u>http://www.statistikdatabasen.scb.se/pxweb/sv/ssd/?rxid=f45f90b6-7345-</u> 4877-ba25-9b43e6c6e299

Schierup, C.-U., Hansen, P., & Castles, S. (2006). *Migration, citizenship, and the European welfare state: a European dilemma*: Oxford University Press.

- Science, W. o. (Producer). (2017). Retrieved from <u>http://apps.webofknowledge.com/CitationReport.do?product=WOS&searc</u> <u>h_mode=CitationReport&SID=Z1xNzKTZEcXBJWEUaVK&page=1&cr</u> pqid=4&viewType=summary&colName=WOS
- Sewell, W. H., Haller, A. O., & Portes, A. (1969). The Educational and Early Occupational Attainment Process. *American Sociological Review*, 34(1), 82-92. doi:10.2307/2092789
- Shanahan, M. J. (2000). Pathways to adulthood in changing societies: variability and mechanisms in life course perspective. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 26, 667. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.26.1.667
- Slavnic, Z., & Urban, S. (2008). Socio-Economic Trends in the Swedish Taxi Sector -Deregulation, Recommodification, Ethnification. International journal on multicultural societies, 10(1), 76-94.
- Small, M. L. (2009). Unanticipated gains: Origins of network inequality in everyday life: Oxford University Press New York.
- Smith, S. S. (2008). A Question of Access or Mobilization? Understanding Inefficacious Job Referral Networks among the Black Poor. In N. Lin & B. H. Ericksson (Eds.), *Social Capital: An International Research Program* (pp. 133-157). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Song, M. (2009). Is Intermarriage a Good Indicator of Integration? *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 35, 331-348. doi:10.1080/13691830802586476
- Stanton-Salazar, R. (1997). A social capital framework for understanding the socialization of racial minority children and youths. *Harvard educational review*, 67, 1-41. doi:10.1177/0044118X04267814
- Stephen, V. (2014). Comment: QCA Works—When Used with Care. Sociological Methodology, 44(1), 108-112. doi:10.1177/0081175014542083
- Stovel, K., & Shaw, L. (2012). Brokerage. *Annual Review of Sociology, Vol 38,* 38, 139-158. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-081309-150054
- Strand, S., & Winston, J. (2008). Educational aspirations in inner city schools. *Educational Studies, 34*, 249-267. doi:10.1080/03055690802034021
- Suárez-Orozco, C., Rhodes, J., & Milburn, M. (2009). Unraveling the immigrant paradox academic engagement and disengagement among recently arrived immigrant youth. *Youth & Society*, 41, 151-185. doi:10.1177/0044118X09333647
- Sue, S., & Okazaki, S. (1990). Asian-American educational achievements: A phenomenon in search of an explanation. *American Psychologist*, 45(8), 913-920. doi:10.1037/1948-1985.S.1.45
- Swidler, A. (1986). Culture in action: Symbols and strategies. *American* Sociological Review, 273-286. doi:10.2307/2095521

- Tajfel, H. (2010). Social identity and intergroup relations (European studies in social psychology): Cambridge University Press.
- Teney, C., Devleeshouwer, P., & Hanquinet, L. (2013). Educational aspirations among ethnic minority youth in Brussels: Does the perception of ethnic discrimination in the labour market matter? A mixed-method approach. *Ethnicities, 13*, 584-606. doi:10.1177/1468796812472009
- Thoits, P. A., & Virshup, L. K. (1997). Me's and we's: Forms and functions of social identities. In R. D. Ashmore & L. Jussim (Eds.), Self and identity: Fundamental issues (pp. 106-133): Oxford University Press.
- Törngren, S. O. (2011). Love ain't got no color?: Attitude toward interracial marriage in Sweden. Linköping University, REMESO Institute for Research on Migration, Ethnicity and Society.
- Torres, S. (2006). Elderly immigrants in Sweden: 'Otherness' under construction. Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies, 32, 1341-1358. doi:10.1080/13691830600928730
- Urban, S. (2012). University Education as a Compensation Strategy Among Second-Generation Immigrants. *International Migration Review*, 46(4), 919-940. doi:doi:10.1111/imre.12005
- Van Der Gaag, M., & Snijders, T. A. B. (2005). The Resource Generator: social capital quantification with concrete items. *Social Networks*, 27(1), 1-29. doi:10.1016/j.socnet.2004.10.001
- Van Der Gaag, M., Snijders, T. A. B., & Flap, H. (2008). Position Generator Measures and Their Relationship to Other Social Capital Measures. In N. Lin & B. H. Ericksson (Eds.), *Social Capital: An International Research Program* (pp. 133-157). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- van Eijck, K. (2001). Social Differentiation in Musical Taste Patterns. *Social Forces*, 79(3), 1163-1185.
- van Eijck, K., & Lievens, J. (2008). Cultural omnivorousness as a combination of highbrow, pop, and folk elements: The relation between taste patterns and attitudes concerning social integration. *Poetics*, 36(2), 217-242. doi:10.1016/j.poetic.2008.02.002
- van Tubergen, F. (2006). *The New Americans Recent Immigration and American Society*. New York: USA: LFB Scholarly Publishing LLC.
- van Tubergen, F. (2014). Ethnic Boundaries in Core Discussion Networks: A Multilevel Social Network Study of Turks and Moroccans in the Netherlands. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies*, 1-16. doi:10.1080/1369183X.2014.886955
- van Tubergen, F., & van Gaans, M. (2016). Is There an Oppositional Culture Among Immigrant Adolescents in the Netherlands? *Youth & Society, 48*, 202-219.
- van Tubergen, F., & Volker, B. (2014). Inequality in Access to Social Capital in the Netherlands. *Sociology*, 49, 521-538. doi:10.1177/0038038514543294

- Verhaeghe, P.-P., & Li, Y. (2015). The position generator approach to social capital research: measurements and results. In Y. Li (Ed.), *Handbook of Research Methods and Applications in Social Capital* (pp. 166–186). Cheltenham: UK: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Verhaeghe, P.-P., Li, Y., & Van de Putte, B. (2013). Socio-economic and Ethnic Inequalities in Social Capital from the Family among Labour Market Entrants. *European Sociological Review*, 29, 683-694. doi:10.1093/esr/jcs047
- Verhaeghe, P.-P., Van der Bracht, K., & Van de Putte, B. (2015). Inequalities in social capital and their longitudinal effects on the labour market entry. *Social Networks*, 40, 174-184. doi:10.1016/j.socnet.2014.10.001
- Verkuyten, M. (2004). The social psychology of ethnic identity: Psychology Press.
- Vertovec, S. (1999). Conceiving and researching transnationalism. *Ethnic and Racial Studies*, 22(2), 447-462. doi:10.1080/014198799329558
- Virta, E., Sam, D., & Westin, C. (2004). Adolescents with Turkish background in Norway and Sweden: A comparative study of their psychological adaptation. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 45(1), 15-25. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9450.2004.00374.x
- Waldinger, R. (1993). The ethnic enclave debate revisited*. *International Journal* of Urban and Regional Research, 17(3), 444-452. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2427.1993.tb00232.x
- Warde, A., & Gayo-Cal, M. (2009). The anatomy of cultural omnivorousness: The case of the United Kingdom. *Poetics*, 37, 119-145. doi:10.1016/j.poetic.2008.12.001
- Warde, A., Wright, D., & Gayo-Cal, M. (2007). Understanding Cultural Omnivorousness: Or, the Myth of the Cultural Omnivore. *Cultural Sociology*, 1, 143-164. doi:10.1177/1749975507078185
- Weber, M. (1978). Economy and Society (2 vols). In G. Roth & C. Wittich (Eds.). Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Westin, C. (2003). Young People of Migrant Origin in Sweden. *International Migration Review*, *37*, 987-1010. doi:10.1111/j.1747-7379.2003.tb00167.x
- Wilson, W. J. (2012). *The truly disadvantaged: The inner city, the underclass, and public policy*: University of Chicago Press.
- Yancey, W. L., Ericksen, E. P., & Juliani, R. N. (1976). Emergent Ethnicity: A Review and Reformulation. *American Sociological Review*, 41(3), 391-403. doi:10.2307/2094249

Publikationer från Sociologiska institutionen Lunds universitet

Beställning och aktuella priser på: bokshop.lu.se Böckerna levereras mot faktura eller kortbetalning.

Lund Dissertations in Sociology (ISSN 1102-4712)

- 13. Neergaard, Anders Grasping the Peripheral State: A Historical Sociology of Nicaraguan State Formation 401 sidor ISBN 91-89078-00-4 (1997)
- 14. Jannisa, Gudmund *The Crocodile's Tears: East Timor in the Making 328* sidor ISBN 91-89078-02-0 (1997)
- Naranjo, Eduardo Den auktoritära staten och ekonomisk utveckling i Chile: Jordbruket under militärregimen 1973-1981 429 sidor ISBN 91-89078-03-9 (1997)
- 16. Wangel, Arne Safety Politics and Risk Perceptions in Malaysian Industry 404 sidor ISBN 91-89078-06-3 (1997)
- 17. Jönhill, Jan Inge Samhället som system och dess ekologiska omvärld: En studie i Niklas Luhmanns sociologiska systemteori 521 sidor ISBN 91-89078-09-8 (1997)
- 18. Lindquist, Per Det klyvbara ämnet: Diskursiva ordningar i svensk kärnkraftspolitik 1972-1980 445 sidor ISBN 91-89078-11-X (1997)
- 19. Richard, Elvi I första linjen: Arbetsledares mellanställning, kluvenhet och handlingsstrategier i tre organisationer 346 sidor ISBN 91-89078-17-9 (1997)
- 20. Einarsdotter-Wahlgren, Mia Jag är konstnär! En studie av erkännandeprocessen kring konstnärskapet i ett mindre samhälle 410 sidor ISBN 91-89078-20-9 (1997)
- 21. Nilsson-Lindström, Margareta Tradition och överskridande: En studie av flickors perspektiv på utbildning 165 sidor ISBN 98-89078-27-6 (1998)
- 22. Popoola, Margareta *Det sociala spelet om Romano Platso* 294 sidor ISBN 91-89078-33-0 (1998)
- 23. Eriksson, Annika En gangster kunde kanske älska sin mor... Produktionen av moraliska klichéer i amerikanska polis- och deckarserier 194 sidor ISBN 91-89078-36-5 (1998)
- 24. Abebe Kebede, Teketel 'Tenants of the State': The Limitations of Revolutionary Agrarian Transformation in Ethiopia, 1974-1991 364 sidor ISBN 91-89078-38-1 (1998)

- 25. Leppänen, Vesa Structures of District Nurse Patient Interaction 256 sidor ISBN 91-89078-44-6 (1998)
- 26. Idof Ståhl, Zeth Den goda viljans paradoxer: Reformers teori och praktik speglade i lärares erfarenheter av möten i skolan 259 sidor ISBN 91-89078-45-4 (1998)
- 27. Gustafsson, Bengt-Åke Symbolisk organisering: En studie av organisatorisk förändring och meningsproduktion i fyra industriföretag 343 sidor ISBN 91-89078-48-9 (1998)
- Munk, Martin Livsbaner gennem et felt: En analyse af eliteidrætsudøveres sociale mobilitet og rekonversioner of kapital i det sociale rum 412 sidor ISBN 91-89078-72-1 (1999)
- 29. Wahlin, Lottie Den rationella inbrottstjuven? En studie om rationalitet och rationellt handlande i brott 172 sidor ISBN 91-89078-85-3 (1999)
- Mathieu, Chris The Moral Life of the Party: Moral Argumentation and the Creation of meaning in the Europe Policy Debates of the Christian and Left-Socialist Parties in Denmark and Sweden 1960-1996 404 sidor ISBN 91-89078-96-9 (1999)
- 31. Ahlstrand, Roland Förändring av deltagandet i produktionen: Exempel från slutmonteringsfabriker i Volvo 165 sidor ISBN 91-7267-008-8 (2000)
- 32. Klintman, Mikael Nature and the Social Sciences: Examples from the Electricity and Waste Sectors 209 sidor ISBN 91-7267-009-6 (2000)
- 33. Hultén, Kerstin Datorn på köksbordet: En studie av kvinnor som distansarbetar i hemmet 181 sidor ISBN 91-89078-77-2 (2000)
- 34. Nilsén, Åke "en empirisk vetenskap om duet": Om Alfred Schutz bidrag till sociologin 164 sidor ISBN 91-7267-020-7 (2000)
- 35. Karlsson, Magnus Från Jernverk till Hjärnverk: Ungdomstidens omvandling i Ronneby under tre generationer 233 sidor ISBN 91-7267-022-3 (2000)
- 36. Stojanovic, Verica Unga arbetslösas ansikten: Identitet och subjektivitet i det svenska och danska samhället 237 sidor ISBN 91-7267-042-8 (2001)
- Knopff, Bradley D. Reservation Preservation: Powwow Dance, Radio, and the Inherent Dilemma of the Preservation Process 218 sidor ISBN 91-7267-065-7 (2001)
- Cuadra, Sergio Mapuchefolket i gränsernas land: En studie av autonomi, identitet, etniska gränser och social mobilisering 247 sidor ISBN 91-7267-096-7 (2001)
- Ljungberg, Charlotta Bra mat och dåliga vanor: Om förtroendefulla relationer och oroliga reaktioner på livsmedelsmarknaden 177 sidor ISBN 91-7267-097-5 (2001)
- 40. Spännar, Christina Med främmande bagage: Tankar och erfarenheter hos unga människor med ursprung i annan kultur, eller Det postmoderna främlingskapet 232 sidor ISBN 91-7267-100-9 (2001)
- 41. Larsson, Rolf Between Crisis and Opportunity: Livelihoods, diversification, and ineuality among the Meru of Tanzania 519 sidor III. ISBN 91-7267-101-7 (2001)
- 42. Kamara, Fouday Economic and Social Crises in Sierra Leone: The Role of Smallscale Entrepreneurs in Petty Trading as a Strategy for Survival 1960-1996 239 sidor ISBN 91-7267-102-5 (2001)

- 43. Höglund, Birgitta Ute & Inne: Kritisk dialog mellan personalkollektiv inom psykiatrin 206 sidor ISBN 91-7267-103-3 (2001)
- 44. Kindblad, Christopher Gift and Exchange in the Reciprocal Regime of the Miskito on the Atlantic Coast of Nicaragua, 20th Century 279 sidor ISBN 91-7267-113-0 (2001)
- 45. Wesser, Erik "Har du varit ute och shoppat, Jacob?" En studie av Finansinspektionens utredning av insiderbrott under 1990-talet 217 sidor ISBN 91-7267-114-9 (2001)
- 46. Stenberg, Henrik Att bli konstnär: Om identitet, subjektivitet och konstnärskap i det senmoderna samhället 219 sidor ISBN 91-7267-121-1 (2002)
- 47. Copes, Adriana Entering Modernity: The Marginalisation of the Poor in the Developing Countries. An Account of Theoretical Perspectives from the 1940's to the 1980's 184 sidor ISBN 91-7267-124-6 (2002)
- 48. Cassegård, Carl Shock and Naturalization: An inquiry into the perception of modernity 249 sidor ISBN 91-7267-126-2 (2002)
- 49. Waldo, Åsa Staden och resandet: Mötet mellan planering och vardagsliv 235 sidor ISBN 91-7267-123-8 (2002)
- 50. Stierna, Johan Lokal översättning av svenskhet och symboliskt kapital: Det svenska rummet i Madrid 1915-1998 300 sidor ISBN 91-7267-136-X (2003)
- 51. Arvidson, Malin Demanding Values: Participation, empowerment and NGOs in Bangladesh 214 sidor ISBN 91-7267-138-6 (2003)
- 52. Zetino Duartes, Mario Vi kanske kommer igen, om det låser sig: Kvinnors och mäns möte med familjerådgivning 246 sidor ISBN 91-7267-141-6 (2003)
- 53. Lindell, Lisbeth *Mellan frisk och sjuk en studie av psykiatrisk öppenvård* 310 sidor ISBN 91-7267-143-2 (2003)
- 54. Gregersen, Peter Making the Most of It? Understanding the social and productive dynamics of small farmers in semi-arid Iringa, Tanzania 263 sidor ISBN 91-7267-147-5 (2003)
- 55. Oddner, Frans Kafékultur, kommunikation och gränser 296 sidor ISBN 91-7267-157-2 (2003)
- 56. Elsrud, Torun Taking Time and Making Journeys: Narratives on Self and the Other among Backpackers 225 sidor ISBN 91-7267-164-5 (2004)
- Jörgensen, Erika Hållbar utveckling, samhällsstruktur och kommunal identitet: En jämförelse mellan Västervik och Varberg 242 sidor ISBN 91-7267-163-3 (2004)
- 58. Hedlund, Marianne Shaping Justice: Defining the disability benefit category in Swedish social policy 223 sidor ISBN 91-7267-167-X (2004)
- 59. Hägerström, Jeanette Vi och dom och alla dom andra andra på Komvux: Etnicitet, genus och klass i samspel 234 sidor ISBN 91-7267-169-6 (2004)
- 60. Säwe, Filippa Att tala med, mot och förbi varandra: Samtal mellan föräldrar och skolledning på en dövskola 215 sidor ISBN 91-7267-173-4 (2004)
- 61. Alkvist, Lars-Erik Max Weber och kroppens sociologi 271 sidor ISBN 91-7267-178-5 (2004)
- 62. Winsvold, Aina Når arbeidende barn mobiliserer seg: En studie av tre unioner i Karnataka, India 300 sidor ISBN 91-7267-183-1 (2004)
- 63. Thorsted, Stine IT-retorik og hverdagsliv. Et studie af fødevarehandel over Internet. 219 sidor ISBN 91-7267-186-6 (2005)

- 64. Svensson, Ove Ungdomars spel om pengar: Spelmarknaden, situationen och karriären 308 sidor ISBN 91-7267-192-0 (2005)
- 65. Lundberg, Anders P. Om Gemenskap: En sociologisk betraktelse 248 sidor ISBN 91-7267-193-9 (2005)
- 66. Mallén, Agneta Trygghet i skärgårdsmiljö: En studie om rädsla för brott i Åland 218 sidor ISBN 91-7267-1955 (2005)
- 67. Ryding, Anna Välviljans variationer: Moraliska gränsdragningar inom brottsofferjourer 222 sidor ISBN 91-7267-188-2 (2005)
- 68. Burcar, Veronika Gestaltningar av offererfarenheter: samtal med unga män som utsatts för brott 206 sidor ISBN 91-7267-207-2 (2005)
- 69. Ramsay, Anders Upplysningens självreflexion: Aspekter av Theodor W. Adornos kritiska teori 146 sidor ISBN 91-7267-208-0 (2005)
- 70. Thelander, Joakim Mutor i det godas tjänst: Biståndsarbetare i samtal om vardaglig korruption 194 sidor ISBN 91-7267211-0 (2005)
- Henecke, Birgitta Plan & Protest: En sociologisk studie av kontroveser, demokrati och makt i den fysiska planerimgen 272 sidor ISBN 91-7267-213-7 (2006)
- 72. Ingestad, Gunilla Dokumenterat utanförskap: Om skolbarn som inte når målen 180 sidor ISBN 91-7267-219-6 (2006)
- 73. Andreasson, Jesper Idrottens kön: Genus, kropp och sexualitet i lagidrottens vardag 267 sidor ISBN 91-628-7009-2 (2007)
- 74. Holmström, Ola Skolpolitik, skolutvecklingsarena och sociala processer: Studie av en gymnasieskola i kris 249 sidor ISBN 91-7267-229-3 (2007)
- 75. Ring, Magnus Social Rörelse: Begreppsbildning av ett mångtydigt fenomen 200 sidor ISBN 91-7267-231-5 (2007)
- 76. Persson, Marcus Mellan människor och ting. En interaktionistisk analys av samlandet 241 sidor ISBN 91-7267-238-2 (2007)
- 77. Schmitz, Eva Systerskap som politisk handling: Kvinnors organisering i Sverige 1968 1982 362 sidor ISBN 91-7267-244-7 (2007)
- 78. Lundberg, Henrik *Filosofisociologi: Ett sociologiskt perspektiv på filosofiskt tänknde* 225 sidor ISBN 91-7267-245-5 (2007)
- 79. Melén, Daniel Sjukskrivningssystemet: Sjuka som blir arbetslösa och arbetslös som blir sjukskrivn 276 sidor ISBN 91-7267-254-4 (2007)
- Kondrup Jakobsen, Klaus The Logic of the Exception: A Sociological Investigation into Theological Foundation of Political with specific regard to Kirekegaardian on Carl Schmitt 465 sidor ISBN 91-7267-265-X (2008)
- 81. Berg, Martin Självets gardirobiär: Självreflexiva genuslekar och queer socialpsykologi 230 sidor ISBN 91-7267-257-9 (2008)
- Fredholm, Axel Beyond the Catchwords: Adjustment and Community Response in Participatory Development in Post-Suharto Indonesia 180 sidor ISBN 91-7267-269-2 (2008)
- Linné, Tobias Digitala pengar: Nya villkor i det sociala livet 229 sidor ISBN 91-7267-282-X (2008)
- 84. Nyberg, Maria Mycket mat, lite måltider: En studie av arbetsplatsen som måltidsarena 300 sidor ISBN 91-7267-285-4 (2009)
- 85. Eldén, Sara Konsten att lyckas som par: Populärterapeutiska berättelser, individualisering och kön 245 sidor ISBN 91-7267-286-2 (2009)

- 86. Bjerstedt, Daniel *Tryggheten inför rätta: Om rätten till förtidspension enligt förvaltningsdomstolarna under tre decenier* 240 sidor ISBN 91-7267-287-0 (2009)
- 87. Kåhre, Peter På AI-teknikens axlar: Om kunskapssociologin och stark artificiel intelligens 200 sidor ISBN 91-7267-289-7 (2009)
- 88. Loodin, Henrik Biografier från gränslandet: En sociologisk studie om psykiatrins förändrade kontrollmekanismer 118 sidor ISBN 91-7267-303-6 (2009)
- 89. Eriksson, Helena *Befolkning, samhälle och förändring: Dynamik i Halmstad under fyra decenier* 212 sidor ISBN 91-7267-313-3 (2010)
- 90. Espersson, Malin Mer eller mindre byråkratisk: en studie av organisationsförändringar inom Kronofogdemyndigheten 182 sidor ISBN 91-7267-315-X (2010)
- 91. Yang, Chia-Ling Othering Processes in Feminist Teaching A case study of an adult educational institution 184 sidor ISBN 91-7267-318-4 (2010)
- 92. Isaksson, Anna Att utmana förändringens gränser En studie om förändringsarbete, partnerskap och kön med Equal-programmet som exempel 206 sidor ISBN 91-7267-321-4 (2010)
- 93. Hilding, Lars-Olof "ÄR DET SÅ HÄR VI ÄR" Om utbildning som normalitet och om produktionen av studenter 200 sidor ISBN 91-7267-326-5 (2011)
- 94. Berg, Pernille *The Reluctant Change Agent Change, Chance and Choice among Teachers Educational Change in The City* 196 sidor ISBN 91-7267-331-1 (2011)
- 95. Rahman, Mashiur Struggling Against Exlusion Adibasi in Chittagong Hill Tracts, Bangladesh 202 sidor ISBN 91-7267-334-6 (2011)
- 96. Eklund, Lisa Rethinking Son Preference Gender, Population Dynamics and Social Change in the People's Republic of China 218 sidor ISBN 978-91-7473-108-8 (2011)
- 97. Gutavsson, Klas Det vardagliga och det vetenskapliga Om sociologins begrepp 260 sidor ISBN 91-7267-336-2 (2011)
- 98. Sjödin, Daniel Tryggare kan ingen vara Migration, religion och integration i en segregerad omgivning 268 sidor ISBN 91-7267-337-0 (2011)
- 99. Ringström, Jonas Mellan sanning och konsekvens En studie av den tredje generationens kognitiva beteendeterapier 268 sidor ISBN 921-7267-338-9 (2011)
- 100. Norstedt, Maria Berättelser om stroke och arbetsliv Att upptäcka styranderelationer 204 sidor ISBN 978-91-7473-182-8 (2011)
- 101. Anving, Terese Måltidens Paradoxer Om klass och kön i vardagens familjepraktiker 228 sidor ISBN 91-7267-339-2 (2012)
- 102. Basic, Goran Samverkan blir kamp En sociologisk analys av ett projekt i ungdomsvården 287 sidor ISBN 91-7267-346-X (2012)
- 103. Zettervall, Charlotta Reluctant Victims into Challengers Narratives of a Kurdish Political Generation in Diaspora in Sweden 315 sidor ISBN 978-91-7473-412-6 (2013)
- 104.Apelmo, Elisabet Som vem som helst Kön, funktionalitet och idrottande kroppar 272 sidor ISBN 978-91-7473-408-9 (2012) Utgivare: Bokförlaget Daidalos, Bergsjödalen 54b, 415 23, Göteborg, www.daidalos.se
- 105. Sandgren, Mikael Europa som nation En ny stil i nationalismens genre 242 sidor ISBN 91-7267-356-7 (2013)

- 106. Sandberg, Johan Social Policy of Our Time? An Inquiry into Evidence, Assumptions, and Diffusion of Conditional Cash Transfers in Latin America 182 sidor ISBN 91-7267- 365-6 (2014) Kan ej beställas av Media-Tryck. Beställs av författaren.
- 107. Frees Esholdt, Henriette Når humor, leg og lyst er på spil Social interaktion på en multietnisk arbejdsplads 260 sidor ISBN 978-91-7623-215-6 (2015).
- 108. Vaide, Johan, Contact Space: Shanghai, The Chinese Dream and the Production of a New Society 215 sidor ISBN 978-91-7623-231-6 (2015)
- 109. Kolankiewicz, Marta Anti-Muslim Violence and the Possibility of Justice 226 sidor ISBN 978-91-7623-257-6 (2015)
- 110. Boethius, Susanne Män, våld och moralarbete -Rapporter från män som sökt behandling för våld i nära relationer. 262 sidor ISBN 978-91-7623-450-1 (2015)
- 111. Görtz, Daniel Etnifierade polispraktiker Hur etnicitet görs i polisens vardag 337 sidor ISBN 978-91-7267-380-9 (2015)
- 112. Stjärnhagen, Ola Ekonomisk tillväxt i välfärdskapitalismen -En jämförande studie av BNP per capita-tillväxten i rika OECD-länder 1970-2000. 168 sidor ISBN 978-91- 7623-490-7 (2015)
- 113. Hedman, Karl Managing Medical Emergency Calls. 281 sidor ISBN 978-91-7623- 690-1 (2016)
- 114. Solano, Priscilla Assisting in the Shadows Humanitarianism, Shelters and Transit Migration Politics. 250 sidor ISBN 978-91-7753-102-9 (2017)
- 115. Ennerberg, Elin Destination employment? Contradictions and ambiguities in Swedish labour market policy for newly arrived migrants 232 sidor ISBN 978-91-7753-204-0 (2017)
- 116. Sunnercrantz, Liv Hegemony and the Intellectual Function Medialised Public Discourse on Privatisation in Sweden 1988-1993. 338 sidor ISBN 978-91-7753-471-6 (2017)
- 117. Kaya, Gökhan Aspirations, Capital and Identity: Four studies on the determinants of life chances for young Swedes with an immigrant background. 165 sidor ISBN 978-91-7753-771-7 (2018)

Aspirations, Capital and Identity

This dissertation examines the determinants of life chances through sociological analysis. It studies aspirations or plans, i.e. where an individual wishes to see herself in the future, and how she envisages the possibility that future might materialise. This sheds insights on how individuals view their potential success in society, which may or may not reflect their actual lived success. The resources that emerge from an individual's social networks (social capital) and involvement in diverse cultural activities (cultural capital) can improve life chances when skills, certifications and work experience by themselves are insufficient to get by in society. Last but not least, identity is crucial to life chances in how it reflects an individual's view of the self in terms of various categories (people like "them" and "us"). As with aspirations, studying identity enriches our understanding of an individual's view of the possibility of becoming an equal and respected member of society.

The dissertation comprises four original research papers comparing these determinants for young people with and without an immigrant background in Sweden. Rather than studying "immigrants" as a singular and fixed social attribute, it examines identity groups, mixed unions and certain ethnic categories: Iranians, Yugoslavians and native-born Swedes. Drawing on rich empirical materials, it sheds insights on the complexities of social integration in Sweden. It finds that young people with immigrant background are part of multiple social circles (e.g. transnational ties, ethnic minority groups and natives) rather than simply becoming part of or similar to natives over time. This multidirectional view of social integration allows us to examine the distribution of occupational networks through social and geographical ties and to assess which groups are more advantaged than others. It shows us that young people with an immigrant background are not entirely "disadvantaged", in contrast to the stereotypical view common in media and politics. Even people with explicitly *invandrare* ("immigrant") identity are able to resist adverse conditions because of their ability to maintain self-confidence and access a certain amount of social capital.



LUND UNIVERSITY Faculty of Social Sciences Department of Sociology



ISBN 978-91-7753-771-7 ISSN 1102-4712